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The civil cover sheet and the Information contained herein neither replace nor
supplement the filing and service of Pleadings or other papers as required by law. This
form is required for the use of the Clerk of the Court for the purpose of reportmg judicial
workload data pursuant to Florida Statute 25.075.

I. CASE STYLE.
0964866
BROWARD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT.
Plaintiffs: Hylton Nesbeth, Wayne Gallimore, Case No
Christopher Walker

19
Vs. | - Judge

Defendants: USIMO, WACHOVIA BANK, JOSEPH ISSA

MZ HOLDINGS LIMITED, JARED MARTINEZ,ISAAC MARTINEZ DAVID SMITH
NEVILLE CADOGAN, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, MICHAEL MISICK,

The Turks and Caicos Islands Financial Services Commission,

OVERSEAS LOCKET INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION, MARKET TRADERS
INSTITUTE INC, I-TRADE FX, LLC, HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD
COOL CORPORATION, MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE, TCI BANK LIMITED

I.  TYPE OF CASE (Place an X in one box only. If the case fits more than one
type of case select the most definitive).

Domestic Relations Torts . Other Civil
=
Simplified Dissolution Professional Malpractice Qgﬁac o
Dissolution Products Liability Rﬁhﬂom%%um
Support-IV-D Auto Negligence E’xﬁﬁl PrbPertys
Support-Non-IV-D Other Negligence gag Foia:losure
URESA-IV-D gﬁmnenEDomam
URESA- Non IV-D “X-Oth§g
Domestic Violence -SECURITIES
FRAUD LITIGATION -
Other Domestic Relations

EX,E(BIT
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‘”{-,'pi%_‘-i ] . e
DS 15 2009 "HE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
¢ 17™ JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR

BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA
LEGAL D oY
CIVIL DIVISION

CASE NO.: Dq L04' Q Lo (g

HYLTON NESBETH,

WAYNE GALLIMORE,

CIHRISTOPHER WALKER, .

Plaintiffs, a —f LO°
DATE: j# ng

vs. nour: (O

. . DEPUTY SHERIFF
USIMO, a Foreign corporation
WACHOVIA BANK, a North Carolina corporation Siké/%“’l A }Lwo? o
JOSEPH ISSA, a Foreign resident
MZ HOLDINGS LIMITED, a Foreign corporation
JARED MARTINEZ, a Florida resident
ISAAC MARTINEZ, a Florida resident,
DAVID SMITH, a Foreign resident,
NEVILLE CADOGAN, a Foreign resident,
BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, a Foreign resident
MICHAEL MISICK, a Foreign resident
The Turks and Caicos Islands Financial Services Commission, a Foreign
Government Regulatory Agency,
OVERSEAS LOCKET INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION,
a Foreign corporation ,
MARKET TRADERS INSTITUTE INC., a Florida corporation
I-TRADE FX, LLC, a Florida corporation
HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD., a Foreign bank
TCI BANK LIMITED, a Foreign bank
MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE, a New York corporation
COOL CORPORATION, a Foreign corporation

Defendants.

SUMMONS: PERSONAL SERVICE ON A CORPORATION.
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TO: WACHOVIA BANK
C/0 Dione Gordon
1191 South University Drive
Plantation Fl. 33324

IMPORTANT

A LAWSUIT HAS BEEN FILED AGAINT YOU. You have 20
Calendar days after this summons is served on you to file a written response
to the attached Complaint/Petition with the Clerk of this Circuit Court,
located at: Broward County Courthouse, Circuit Civil, 201 SE 6™ Street,
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301. A phone call will not protect you. Your
written response, including the case number given above and the names of
the Parties, must be filed if you want the Court to hear your side of the case..

If you do not file your written response on time, you may lose the
case, and your wages, money and property may be taken thereafter without
further warning from the Court. There are other legal requirements. You
may want to call an attorney right away. If you do not know an Attorney,
you may call an Attorney Referral Service or a Legal Aid Office ( listed in
the phone book).

If you choose to file a written response yourself, at the same time
you file your written response to the Court, you must also mail or take a
copy of your written Response to the Party serving this Summons at: David
P. Rowe Esq., The Corporate Center, 110 East Broward Boulevard, Suite
1700, Fort Lauderdale, F1. 33301.

Copies of all Court Documents in this case, including Orders are
available at the Clerk of the Circuit Court’s office. You may review these
documents upon request.
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THE STATE OF FLORIDA:
TO EACH SHERIFF OF THE STATE: You are commanded to
serve this Summons and a Copy of the Complaint in this Lawsuit on the

above named person.
DATED NOV 25 2009
CLERK OF THE CIRCUIT COURT.
(Seal)
o DAVID LEWIS
By:

Deputy Clerk.

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES OF ACT OF 1990
In accordance with the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, persons
needing a special accommodation to participate in this proceeding shall
within a reasonable period prior to any proceeding contact the Court, ADA

Coordinator/Reuben Carrerou, no later than 7 days prior to the proceeding at
(954) 831-6364.
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"IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
17™ JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA .

CIVIL DIVISION
CASE NO.:
0964866
HYLTON NESBETH, , B
‘WAYNE GALLIMORE,
CHRISTOPHER WALKER, .
Plaintiffs,

VS,

USIMO, a Foreign corporation :

WACHOVIA BANK, a North Carolina corporation

JOSEPH ISSA, a Foreign resident

MZ HOLDINGS LIMITED, a Foreign corporation

JARED MARTINEZ, a Florida resident

ISAAC MARTINEZ, a Florida resident,

DAVID SMITH, a Fareign resident,

NEVILLE CADOGAN, a Foreign resident,

BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, a Foreign resident

MICHAEL MISICK, a Foreign resident

The Turks and Caicos Islands Financial Services Commission, a Foreign
Government Regulatory Agency,

OVERSEAS LOCKET INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION,
a Foreign corporation

MARKET DERS INSTITUTE INC., a Florida corporation
I-TRADE FX, LLC, a Florida co%poraﬁon )

HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD., a Foreign bank

TCI BANK LIMITED, a Foreign bank

MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE, a New York corporation
COOL CORPORATION, a Foreign corporation

Defendants.
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i

COMPLAINT

Plaintifis HYLTON NESBETH, WAYNE GALLIMORE, CHRISTOPHER WALKER,
file their Complaint against Defendants USIMO, WACHOVIA BANK, JOSEPH
ISSA, MZ HOLDINGS LIMITED, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARTINEZ, DAVID
SMITH, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, MICHAEL MISICK, The Turks and Caicos Islands
(TCl) Financial Services Commission, NEVILLE CADOGAN, OVERSEAS
LOCKET INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION(“OLINT"),MARKET TRADERS
_ INSTITUTE INC., IF-TRADE FX, LLC, HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD., TC!
BANK LIMITED, COOL CORPORATION, MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE,

(collectively referred to as “Defendants”) and allege as follows:
PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE
1. Plaintiff Wayne Gallimore is a resident of Jamaica, W.1.

2. Plaintiff Christopher Walker is a resident of Orange County, Florida

3. Defendant USIMO is a foreign corporation registered in the British Virgin

Islands

4. Defendant WACHOVIA BANK is a national association pursuant to the
National Bank Act and is a subsidiary of Wells Fargo Corporation which was
engaged in facilitating David Smith’s Ponzi scheme by receiving and forwarding

monies using the Federal wire transfer system.

12 of 130



Case 0:09-cv-62042-WJZ Document 1-1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/29/2009 Page 7 of 124

'
i )

5. Defendant Joseph Issa (“Issa”) is a resident of and conducts business in

Jamaica.

6. Defendant MZ HOLDINGS is a foreign corporation owned by “Issa,” with its
principle place of business in Jamaica. MZ Holdings conducts business in the

state of Florida.

7. Defendant, JARED MARTINEZ, is a United States citizen and upon
information and belief, operates various business entities out of the state of

Florida and owns property in Orange, Seminole and Flagler County, Florida.

8. Defendant ISAAC MARTINEZ is a United States Citizen and upon
information and belief, operates various foreign exchange business entities

out of the State of Florida and owns property in Seminole County, Florida.

9. Defendant DAVID SMITH, a Jamaican national is the principal of OLINT
and based upon informétion and belief, has significant business contacts
with the State of Florida including making and directing several wire
transfers to and from the Turks and Caicos Islands (TCl) and the State of

Florida.

10. Defendant NEVILLE CADOGAN is a Jamaican national and former
Managing Director of the Turks and Caicos Islands Financial Services

Commission (FSC), which conducted business in Florida.
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¥

11. Defendant, BRIAN TROWBR!VDGE, a foreign citizen, is the CEO, Co-owner |
-and Chairman .of HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD. Based upon information .
and belief, he has significant business contacts with the state of Florida as
explained in- greater detail below. Further, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE had a
significant and supervisory role over HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD.
including supervising receipt of monies from individuals and disbursing monies to

individuals and corporations.

12. Defendant, MICHAEL MISICK, a foreign citizen is the former Premier of
the TCl. In his former position he had direct responsibility to oversee the

operations of the TCI Financial Services Commission.

13. Defendant, The Turks and Caicos Islands Financial Services Commission, is _
a Foreign Government Regulatbry Agency with the responsibility of licensing and
supervising all finance-related operating entities in the TCI to internationally

accepted standards.

14. Defendant, OLINT, is a foreign corporation organized under the laws of

. Jamaica, and operating out of the Turks & Caicos Islands (TCl).

15. Defendant MARKET TRADERS INSTITUTE INC. is a Florida
corporation, which received wires from OLINT in U.S. dollars using the
Federal wire transfer facility. This corporation promotes themselves as being

a FOREX (Foreign Exchange) education institution.
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16. Defendant I-TRADE FX LLC is a Florida corporation, which received wire
transfers from DAVID SMITH and OLINT. This corporation acts as a FOREX

broker and engages in foreign exchange trading.

17. Defendant, HALLMARK BANK. AND TRUST LTD. is a foreign banking
association operating out of the Turks & Caicos Islands. This banking
institution used the Federal wire transfer facility to transfer funds from OLINT

to individuals and corporations without the consent of the Plaintiffs.

18. Defendént, TCI BANK is a foreign bank operating out of the Turks &
Caicos Islands. This banking institution used the Federal wire transfer facility
to transfer funds from OLINT to individuals and corporations without the
consent of the Plaintiffs. |

The TCl BANK maintained an account for Hallmark Bank: A/C #5003449601

which was used exclusively for OLINT TCl transactions.

19. Defendant, MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE, is a New York corporation,

which maintains a wholly owned Florida Limited Liability Corporation and a

Florida registered agent to conduct business in Florida .using the corporate

-name MASTERCARD INTERNATIONAL, L.L.C. and with the registered agent

being CT CORPORATION SYSTEM, 1200 SOUTH PINE ISLAND ROAD,
PLANTATION, FLORIDA.

20. This is an action seeking damages in excess of $15,000.
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21. This court has jurisdiction over Defendants, I-TRADE FX LLC,, MARKET
TRADERS INSTITUTE INC., JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARTINEZ,
because they own business entities based in the State of Florida, as well as
real property in Orange County and Serhinole County, Florida. In addition,
upon information and belief, they have committed a tort, in whole or in part,

or have otherwise transacted business in the State of Florida.

22. This court has jurisdiction over Defendant JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID
SMITH, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, MICHAEL MISICK a;wd NEVILLE
CADOGAN because, upon information and belief, the said Defendants were
operating a business of foreign currency trading from Orlando, Florida and
said Defendants have committed a tort, in whole or in part or has otherwise
transacted business in the State of Florida as described in greater detail

below.

é3. This Court has jurisdiction over Defendants OLINT, HALLMARK BANK
AND TRUST LTD., TCI BANK LIMITED, WACHOVIA BANK and MASTER
CARD WORLDWIDE as upon information and belief;the said Defendants
were transacting a significant volume of business with residents of Florida,
sending mail to and receiving mailed applications from Florida. Debit card
products were sent to residents of Florida.

Further MASTER CARD WORLDWIDE maintained a location for service of

process within Florida.
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The said Defendants have committed a tort in whole or in part or have
otherwise transacted business in the State of Florida as described in greater

detail below.

24._ This Court has jurisdiction over MZ HOLDINGS, COOL
| CORPORATION, USIMO and JOSEPH ISSA as they all do business in the

State of Florida.

25. This Court has jurisdiction of the Turks and Caicos FSC, which has the
daily responsibility of supervising financial institutions which trade, wire
transfer and transact business with the U.S.Federal Reserve. The TCI

FSC's decisions therefore have a daily impact on interstate commerce.

26. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22 of the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1933 (The Securities Act), Section 27 of the
Securities Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) and Section 214 of the Investment

Advisors Act of 1940 (Advisors Act).

27. The Defendants directly or indirectly made use of mail advertisements
and instrumentalities of interstate commerce in connection with acts,

practices and a course of business as described in the complaint.

28. Venue is proper in this district as one or more of the individual defendant
entities own business entities and have conducted business in Broward

County, Florida.
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29. All conditions precedent to the filing of this action have occurred, been

performed, been waived or otherwise excused.

| THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME

30. This matter involves a Ponzi scheme promoted: to the Jamaican-
American community living in the United States and the Jamaican Diaspora
living in the Eastern Caribbean thus constituting Affinity fraud. This scheme

was conceived by David Smith and Joseph Issa on or around October 2004.

31. Defendant DAVID SMITH, a self proclaimed religious genius, operated a
Ponzi scheme known as the OVERSEAS LOCKET CORPORATION (OLINT).
He convinced over six thousand investors that he and agents of OLINT could
produce a return of ten percent (10%) per month by participating in foreign
currency exchange trading.

Prospective investors learned about OLINT's investment pfogram mainly through
word of mouth, editorial press releases coordinated by Creative Marketing
Limited, fraudulent internet advertising and by educational presentations
conducted at various venues where DAVID SMITH and JARED MARTINEZ
pitched the unsecured notes. OLINT also had a website,
www.overseaslocket.com, through which it offered its unsecured notes to the

general public.
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During the educational presentations, DAVID SMITH and JARED MARTINEZ told
prospective investors they would plausibly obtain a ten percent return on their .
money, based on their extraordinary talents at trading foreign currencies. DAVID
SMITH and JARED MARTINEZ further assured prospective investors their
investments would be safe, claiming only twenty (20) percent of the principal was’
at risk and guaranteed the remaining eighty (80) percent would be held in

escrow.

32. In September 2006, Principals or agents of Defendant OLINT proposed that
the plaintiffs invest in OLINT' with deceitful and fraudulént assurances that they
would have access to their money at anytime through OLINT's online and
accounting website. In September 2006, at the time that these assurances were
given, .Defendants DAVID SMITH, JOSEPH ISSA, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC
MARTINEZ and BRIAN TROWBRIDGE knew that they intended to defraud the

plaintiffs of their money.

33. Between 2006 and 2008, Defendant OLINT and OLINTs .Principal
Defendant, DAVID SMITH, invested in foreign currency exchange trading through
various trading platforms. Although OLINT was a Jamaican corporation, OLINT
‘through and with the help of DAVID SMITH, JOSEPH ISSA, BRIAN
TROWBRIDGE, MICHAEL MISICK, NEVILLE CADOGAN operated their FOREX

trading mainly in the Turks & Caicos Islands.
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34. As early as 2008, OLINT announced that it would transfer part of its FOREX
trading business té Orlandq, Florida (Please see Exhibit 1, Olint spreads it wings;
attached hereto and incorporated by reference). OLINT's Principal Defendant
DAVID SMITH conspired with ISSAC MARTINEZ and JARED MARTINEZ to
transfer all OLINT éssets to ORLANDO, FLORIDA to a phony corporation owned
by OLINT and under the control of ISAAC MARTINEZ known as JiJ Investments
(Please see Exhibit 2 attached hereto and incorporated by reference). This

transfer was done without the consent of OLINT investors including the Plaintiffs.

35. Due to the aggressive advertising of the high rate of returns that Defendants |
engaged in, the Plaintiffs considered investing in OLINT on or around September
of 2006. At this time, Principals or agents of OLINT, including DAVID SMITH,
JOSEPH ISSA, JARED MARTINEZ and ISAAC MARTINEZ proposed that the
Plaintiffs invest in OLINT with assurances that they could have access to their

money at any time through OLINT's online accounting website.

36. The OLINT sales office was located at 1C Braemar Avenue Kingston 5,
Jamaica. David Smith's financial operation was investigated by the Financial
Services Commission of Jamaica and after being forced to cease and desist his
operations in Jamaica by that governing body he moved his operation {o the
Turks and Caicos lIslands (TCl). The OLINT Corporation was eventually
confirmed to be a Ponzi scheme per the Supreme Court of the Turks and Caicos

Islands. (Please see Exhibit 3 attached hereto and incorporated by reference).
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37. Defendants DAVID SMITH, JOSEPH ISSA, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC
MARTINEZ and OLINT targeted American investors directly or indirectly to invest
in the OLINT hedg'e fund. Based on their aggressive advertising of the high rate
of return, OLINT raked in over US $220 million dollars from investors who were
based in the USA, TCl, Jamaica, St Kitts, Panama, Grenada, the Cayman
Islands and Dominica Republic. The Ponzi scheme was supported by many
feeder clubs such as “LewFam” and “Regency”. Defendant Smith used St. Kitts,
the British Virgin Islands, Belize, Grand Cayman and Panama, as intermediary
countries to funnel funds from OLINT TCI to the Martinez’ and to JOSEPH ISSA
control!éd corpofations without the consent.of OLINT TCI stakeholders.

Based on the aforémenﬁoned Smith, Issa and the Martinez’ were capable _of
evading the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the

Florida Office of Financial Regulation and the Federal Reserve in this matter.

38. OLINT raised at least $220 million from approximately six thousand investors
by baselessly guaranteeing to offer a ten (10) percent monthly return. OLINT and
its agents claimed it was able to generate such spectacular returns through
DAVID SMITH and JARED MARTINEZ's purported successful trading of foreign

currencies.
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39. In reality, DAVID SMITH, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARTINEZ and
JOSEPH ISSA used less than 10 percent of investors' funds for trading. In classic
Ponzi scheme fashion, the Defendants used most of the investor funds they
solicited to payoff earlier investors. Furthermore, in contrast to the Defendants’
claims th‘at DAVID SMITH was a successful trader; he suffered significant trading
losses, bf the small portion of funds he did trade. By the end of December 2008,

OLINT stopped making payments to investors and as of July 31, 2009 only
US $ 13 million dollars has been found by a TC! Supreme Court appointed

receiver Joseph Connolly.

40. As a result of this conduct, the Defendants violated Sections 5(a), 5(c) and
17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities Act") [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and (c)
and 77q(a)], Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange
Act") [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5. As a further result of this
conduct, DAVID SMITH, JARED:MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARTINEZ and JOSEPH
ISSA violated Sections 206(1), (2) and (4) of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940

("Advisers Act") and Rule 206(4)-8 thereunder.

41. David Smith as a result of the large number of investor complaints was
arrested and charged with twenty six counts of money laundering, fraud and

theft by the Royal TC! Police Financial Crimes Unit.
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42. Defendant JOSEPH ISSA, is a Hotelier from Jamaica who is known for his
aggressive investment strategies in Jamaica. Joseph Issa associates himself with
criminal thugs in Jamaica who he uses to intimidate and hurt numerous business
competitors. Joseph Issa is a business co-conspirator and close friend of.David
Smith. Joseph lssa-and David Smith aétively conspired to steal OLINT’s money
(from the general investment community in the United States and in Jamaica. MZ
Holdings and USIMO both foreign corpqrations owned by “Issa” were used to
collect deposits from OLINT depositors and then were used to launder
money into Mr. Joseph Issa’s personal accounts and/or into Mr. Joseph Issa’s Cool
Corporation which is headquartered at 19 Main Street, Ocho Rios Jamaica.
Defendant
USIMO took checks from Plaintiffs Nesbeth and Galiimore. MZ Holdings is

registered in Jamaica.

43. Defendants Jared Martinez and Isaac Martinez are international con artists
who have created an empire based on money laundering and foreign exchange

(Forex) trading.

44. They claim to have the educational skills and background to educate
individuals in foreign currency trading. Their corporation MARKET TRADERS
INSTITUTE INC. (MTY) is used to provide educational materials and resources
to clients. Jared Martinez has never received a tertiary education. To the
contrary he learnt about FOREX training from Gary Lee Titkin owner of Global

Forex Trading.
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45. The unsuspecting clients sign on with MTI and then are advised that they
require the services of a brokerage company, I-TRADE FX LLC, another

corporation owned by the Martinez family.

46. Defendants JARED MARTINEZ AND ISAAC MARTINEZ are really co-
conspirators with David Smith. Their modus operandi is to go to specific third
world countries such as Trinidad and Panama to spread their propaganda and to

bilk the investors of their money.

47. The goal of these con artists is to evade US law enforcement and regulatory
guidelines. Currently, the JARED MARTINEZ and ISAAC MARTINEZ are
infiltrating into countries such as Panama, using the new corporation name of
EFOREX INC. (Please see Exhibit 4 attached hereto and incorporated by

reference)

48. Defendants JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARTINEZ had contracts in place to
receive wire transfers from OLINT through a Florida based corporation known as
JIJ (Jared, Issac, Jacob) Investments. In addition, MTI received a financial

kickback from David Smith and OLINT for “teaching” FOREX courses.

49. The National Futures Association (NFA) a sé!f-regulatory organization for the
U.S. futures industry whose function is to enact rules, programs and services that
safeguard market integrity and to protect investors, learned that David Smith
transferred the amount of US$100 million dollars from OLINT using Halimark

Bank and Trust Ltd. to a Florida based corporation known as JiJ INVESTMENTS
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INC., a corporation under the control of ISAAC MARTINEZ.
This transfer of OLINT investors funds, including those of the Plaintiffs was done
without permission, as is clearly required per the legal contract between OLINT
and its investors. (Please see Exhibit 5 attached hereto and incorporated by -
reference).
In response to the above, the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the Internal
Revenue Service have commenced an investigation into the OLINT Ponzi
scheme and its co-conspirators. Federal investigators are examining the records
of the Martinez’ and have interviewed Chester Stewart of Regency. Federal
investigations have also focused on the role of USIMO and Joseph Issa. Further
the United States Attorney’s Office in the Southemn District of New York, have
frozen funds found in Wachovia Bank which were transferred by I-trade Fx. LLC
without the consent of OLINT stakeholders, including the Plaintif’s. These acts of
money laundering, by the Martinez' controlied corporatioh, occurred on multiple
occasions using bank accounts such as Wachovfa Bank New York, Swift Code:

PNBPUS3NNYC, ABA: 026005092, Account Number: 200192005432,

50. Upon information and belief, OLINT and SMITH sent multiple wire transfers to
the United States ’Ehrough Defendant Wachovia Bank to Defendant 1ISSAC
MARTINEZ and JIJ INVESTMENTS in order to evade the Jamaican and Turks &
Caicos authorities who were investigating OLINT and SMITH'S bﬁsiness
practices. (Please see Exhibit 5 attached hereto and incorporated by
reference). In addition, Smith had depositors give money to USIMO to hide his

racketeering activity from U.S. and Jamaican regulators. Joseph lIssa co-
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conspired with his subterfuge.

51. Upon information and belief, JARED MART!NEZ operated his own FOREX
trading business out of Orange County, Florida by such names as MARKET
TRADERS INSTITUTE and PROFESSIONAL FOREX ASSOCIATION, INC. Also
upon information and belief, multiple wire transfers totaling roughly $100 million
were performed from OLINT and/or SMITH to MARTINEZ. These monetary
transfers done without the consent of OLINT stakeholders was confirmed by the
NFA. (See NFA Complaint, Exhibit #6, Paragraph 18 attached hereto and

incorporated by reference).

52. Upon information vand belief, MARTINEZ used the funds transferred to him
from OLINT and/or SMITH to invest through JIJ INVESTMENTS in several
parcels of real property and business entities in and around Orange and
Seminole County, Florida.

Defendaﬁts JARED MARTINEZ and ISAAC MARTINEZ used the funds to
purchase exotic motor vehicles, name brand watches, expensive omamental

fumiture and a lavish 5-star cruise to Italy for his entire family in 2007.

53. Plaintiffs never authorized the transfer of their funds from their OLINT
accounts to any other person or business entity. The money wire transferred to
JARED MARTINEZ and ISSAC MARTINEZ was done without knowledge or

permission from the Plaintiffs.
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54. Defendant, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, a foreign citizen, is the CEO, Co—onner
and Chairman of HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD. Based upon information
and belief, he has significant business contacts with the state of Florida.
“TROWBRIDGE”" co-signed contracts issued to OLINT stakeholders in his
capacity of being the CEO of Hallmark Bank.

Per the issued contract, all OLINT TCl stakeholders were customers of Hallmark
Bank, with OLINT TCi acting as an investment manager. “TROWBRIDGE” had a
significant and supervisory role over HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD.
including supervising receipt of monies from individuals and disbursing monies to

s
third parties which included individuals such as “lssa” and corporations.

55. Defendant, HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD., had contracts issued and
signed by The Plaintiffs in January 2008. In Section 3 of the contract, it reads:
AUTHORIZATION TO TRANSFER FUNDS “Except with the specific written
~ permission of the Customer, the Company and the investment Manager will not
transfer funds from or among Customer’s accounts” (See Exhibit 7 attached

“hereto and incorporated by reference).

56. Alt the Defendants have refused several repeated requests to retumn the
Plaintiffs money. Instead the Defendants live a lavish lifestyle. Defendant DAVID
SMITH has refused to return any money to the Plaintiffs and has purchased an

exclusive residence in Chalk Sound TCt
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(See Exhibit 8, Agreement for Sale involving Defendant DAVID SMITH).

Defendant JOSEPH ISSA does not return telephone calls.

Defendant JARED MARTINEZ has refused to retumn the money to the

Plaintiffs.

Defendant ISSAC MARTINEZ has refused to return the money to the

Plaintiffs. _

Defendant BRIAN TROWBRIDGE has refused to return money to the

Plaintiffs.

Defendant I-TRADE FX, LLC has refused to return the money to the

Plaintiffs.
Upon information. and belief, OLINT's principais, DAVID SMITH and TRACEY
ANN SMITH, have fled Jamaica, avoided the Jamaican authorities and have
absconded with the Plaintiffs funds and deposited and/or invested them into
several entities, including those owned or controlled by Defendants JARED AND
ISAAC MARTINEZ and with USIMO, MZ HOLDINGS AND COOL
CORPORATION Principal JOSEPH ISSA, with the intent to hinder, delay, or

defraud the Plaintiffs in their efforts to recover their funds.

57. Defendant NEVILLE CADOGAN, based on information and belief,
deliberately did not implement licensing and appropriate supervisory
methodologies with respect to the financial operations of OLINT TCI because of his
personal relationship with David Smith, Principal of OLINT TCl. In his capacity as
Managing Director for the TCI FSC, he failed in the execution of his job

responsibilities which included:
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- Administering the Financial Services Commission Ordinance
- Supervising the conduct of financial services business
- Monitoring the financial services of businesses carried on, such as
OLINT TClI and its development in the TCI.
His negligence to implement the FSC Ordinance 2007 resulted in the defrauding
of OLINT TCI stakeholders and their respective financial loss. These facts were

highlighted by the recent TClI Commission of Enquiry and resulted in his

resignation and replacement by Mr. Kevin Higgins.

58. Defendant MICHEAL MISICK, based on information and belief,
deliberately did not implement appropriate supervisory methodologies with
respect to the financial operations of OLINT TCl because of his personal
relationship with David Smith, Principal of OLINT TCI.

A recent Commission of Enquiry established in the TCI revealéd on June 1, 2009
to Governor Gordon Wetherell that the TCl Government under the leadership of
MICHAEL MISICK was iﬁvolved in corruption and other serious acts of
dishonesty in the Turks and Caicos Islands (TCl). Currently former Premier
Michael Misick and four former government ministers (namely, Floyd Hall,
McAllister Hanchell, Jeffrey Hall and Lillian Boyce) now face criminal prosecution
as they have been found to have been engaged in bribery and a
misappropriation of public funds. Per the Commissions report: “The
Commission now has constructive notice of what amounts to' a criminal syndicate
masquerading as a local govemnment in the TCI.” The finding of the éaid report

has resulted in the suspension of the TCI Constitution and direct rule being
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implemented from Westminster.

59. The Turks and Caicos Islands Financial Services Commission, a Foreign
Government Regulatory Agency with the responsibility of licensing and
supervising all finance-related operating entities in the TCI to internationally
accepted standards failed in its role to provide to OLINT stakeholders a well
defined regulatory framework and to issue a cease and desist order to OLINT to
desist in their operation of a Foreign exchange hedge fund within the Jurisdiction
of the TCI. Further, this government agency failed its fiduciary responsibility to
protect unsuspecting International clients from being victims of money laundering .'
and failed to identify OLINT TCl as a Ponzi écheme, as has been confirmed by |
the TCI Suprgame Court Ruling.

60. Wachovia Bank, a subsidiary of Wells Fargo & Company failed to apply the
‘*know your client’ (KYC) principle. The KYC principle is aimed at reducing the risk
of undermininé the bank’s reputation due to the clients’ involvement in the
transactions of money laundering or terrorism financing. In addition, the bank
failed to obtain the necessary information about OLINT and its clients and the
origination of their funds, and to ensure, that such funds did not have criminal
origination and were not being used for illicit purposes. The action of the bank
resulted in the facilitation of money laundefting using the Federal wire transfer

system.
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The banks action facilitated the financial misdeeds of the OLINT Ponzi scheme
and financially proved profitable to the bank in the form of receipt of wire transfer
fees.

Further, the bank did not act in compliance with the Law on the Prevention of
Laundering the Proceeds from Criminal Activity (Money Laundering) and of
Terrorist Financing. Under proyisions of Article 28 of the Law on the Prevention
of Launden'ng the Proceeds from Criminal Activity (Money Laundering) and of
Terrorist Financing the bank was entitled to ask its customer (OLINT TCI) and the
| customers duty is to submit information and documents necessary for customer
due diligence, including data on the beneficiaries, transactions performed by the
customér, economic, personal activities, financial status, sources .of funds or
other assets of the customers and beneficiaries.
Wachovia Bank violated the Bank Secrecy Act of 1970 (or BSA, or qtherwise
known as the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act) requiring

this financial institution to assist U.S. government agencies to detect and prevent -

money_laundering. Specifically, the act requires financial institutions to keep
records of cash purchases of negotiable instruments, and file reports of cash
purchases of these negotiable instruments of $3,000 or moré (daily aggregate
amount), and to report suspicious activity that might signify money laundering,

tax evasion, or other criminal activities
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61. TC1 BANK LTD. failed to apply the ‘know your client' (KYC) principle and
thereby facilitated David Smith and his co-conspirators in establishing the OLINT
Ponzi scheme. The banks action proved profitable to the bank in the form of
receipt of wire transfer fees. Multiple wire transfers were done to third parties
without their consent using TCI Bank Ltd. Accounts such as, Account Number:

820104084.

62. MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE, as an operator of a payment card system,
did not adhere to Section 352 of the PATRIOT Act and FinCEN'’s interim rule,
which required that MasterCard adopt and implement an anti-money laundering
program reasonably designed to prevent its system from being used by financial
institutions to facilitate money laundering and the financing of tenoﬁst activities.
Indeed, MasterCard Worldwide entered into a financial relationship with Hallmark
Bank and Trust Ltd., a rogue financial entity per the Financial Services Authority
(United Kingdom) and issued “Compass Debit Cards™ bearing the MasterCard -
logo to the OLINT Ponzi scheme s_takeﬁolders. This financial relationship was
mutually beneficial to both MasterCard Worldwide and Hallmark Bank and Trust
Ltd. Further the action of MasterCard offered support to the existence of a Ponzi
scheme that hasrde.frauded the Plaintiffs NESBETH, GALLIMORE, WALKER and

six thousand other investors.
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63. By this action, Plaintiffs NESBETH, GALLIMORE, WALKER are seeking to
recover the principal and profit of their accounts with USIMO and OLINT.
According to the terms of the Agreement, OLINT was to use Plaintiff's funds for
foreign currency exchange trading. However, due to Defendants JARED
MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARINEZ, DAVID SMITH and JOSEPH ISSA’s fraudulent
misconduct, the Plaintiffs have lost access to their funds and/or haVe completely
lost their funds, and as a result the apparent conspiratorial misconduct of
JARED MARTINEZ, ISSAC MARTINEZ, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, MICHAEL
MISICK, NEVILLE CODOGAN, DAVID SMITH and JOSEPH ISSA and have

suffered substantial damages.

64. The Plaintiffs are also seeking damages for OLINT’s breach of the Agreement
by failing to honor requests made by the Plaintiffs for the withdrawal of their
funds, depriving Plaintiffs of their property for an indefinite period of time, which
resulted in OLINT and its principals (including Defendants JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID
SMWH, JARED MARTINEZ and ISAAC MARTINEZ) being unjustly enriched.

65. By this action, Plaintiffs NESBETH, GALLIMORE, WALKER are seeking to
recover the damages they have incurred because of the misconduct of OLINT,
WACHOVIA BANK, TCi BANK LTD., USIMO, MZ HOLDINGS, I-TRADE FX, MTI,
HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD., TURKS AND CAICOS FSC, COOL
CORPORATION AND MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE. Due to the misconduct of
the aforementioned Defendants, the Plaintiffs have lost access to their funds

and/or have completely lost their funds, and as a result have suffered substantial
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damages.

66. The Plaintiffs have had to hire the undersignéd attorney, as well as counsel in
Jamaica and England in an attempt to recover their funds and have had to pay

attorney's fees for same.

67. The Plaintiffs have suffered losses of approximately $8 million United States
dollars due to the misconduct of the Defendants. This formal complaint requests
that the Court enter orders: (1) permanently enjoining the Defendants from
violating the federal securities laws; (2) directing the Defendants to disgorge all
profits or proceeds they received as a result of the acts and/or courses of
conduct complained of, with prejudgment interest; and (3) directing the

Defendants to pay civil honey penalties.
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FIRST CLAIM
VIOLATION OF SECTION 5(a) and 5(c) OF THE SECURITES ACT

68. Defendants:

USIMO
WACHOVIA BANK

JOSEPH ISSA

MZ HOLDINGS LTD.

JARED MARTINEZ

ISAAC MARTINEZ

DAVID SMITH

MICHAEL MISICK

BRIAN TROWBRIDGE

NEVILLE CADOGAN

THE TCI FINANCIAL SERVICES COMMISSION
OLINT

MARKET TRADERS INSTITUTE INC

I-TRADE FX LLC

HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD.

TCI BANK LTD

COOL CORPORATION

MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE

This complaint repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 67.
a) No registration statement was filed or in effect with the Securities Exchange -
Commission pursuant to the Securities Act with respect to the securities and

transactions described in this complaint, and no exemption from registration

exists with respect to the securities and transactions described in this Complaint.

- From at least September 2006 through December 2008, the Defendants directly -
and indirectly: (a) made use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to sell securities, through

the use or medium of a prospectus or otherwise; (b) carried securities or caused
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such securities to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any
means or instruments of transportation, for the purpose of sale or delivery after
sale; or (¢) made use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to
buy through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise, without a
registration statement having been filed or_being in effect with the Commission as
to such securities.

By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants directly or indirectly violated, and,
unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Sections 5(a) and

5(c) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a) and 77e(c)].

SECOND CLAIM
Violations of Section 17(a) (1) of the Securities Act

This complaint repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 67.

B9. Starting no later than September 2006, the Defendants, directly or indirectly,
singly, in concert with HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST, in the offer and sale of
securities, by use of the means and instruments of transportation and
communication in interstate commerce and by use of the mails, have: (a)
employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) obtained money or
prope&y by means of untrue statements of material fact or omissions to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and
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THIRD CLAIM
Violation of Section 17(a)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act

This complaint repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 67.

a)The Ijefendants, directly or indirectly, in the offer or sale of securities, by the
use of means of instruments of transportation or communication in interstate
commerce, or of the mails: (a) obtained money or property by means of untrue
statements of material fact or by omitting to state material facts necessary in
order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading; or (b) engaged in transactions, practices
or courses of business which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit

upon the purchasers of such securities.

b) By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants directly or indirectly violated, and,
unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Sections 17(a)(2)

and (3) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and (3)].

FOURTH CLAIM
Misrepresentation

This complaint repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 67.

68. Defendants, directly or indirectly, singly or in concert with others, in
connection with the purchase and sale of securities, by use of the means and

instrumentalities of interstate commerce and by use of the mails have:
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(c) engaged in transactions, practices or courses of business which operate or

would operate as a fraud or deceit.

70. As part of and in furtherance of this scheme, Defendants, directly and
indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contract, written offering documents,
promotional materials, investor and other correspondence, and oral
presentations, which contained untrue statements of material fact and which
omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the statements made,
in light of the circumstancés under which they were made, not misleading,
including, but not limited to, those statements and omissions set forth in previous

paragraphs.

71. Defendants made the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions
knowingly or with sever recklessness with regard for the truth. Defendants were
also negligent’ in their actions regarding the representations and omissions

alleged herein.

72. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants directly or indirectly violated, and,
unless enjoined, are reasonably likely to continue to violate, Section 17(a)(l) of

the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77g(a)].
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(a) employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (b) made deliberate
untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state material facts necessary
in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts, practices and courses
of business which operate as a fréud and deceit upon purchasers, prospective

purchasers and other persons.

69. As a part of and in furtherance of their scheme, Defendants, directly and
indirectly, prepared, disseminated or used contracts, written offering documents,
promotional materials, investor and other comespondence, and oral
presentations, which contained untrue statements of material facts and
misrepresentations of material facts, ‘and which omitted to state material facts
necessary in order to rﬁake the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading , including , but not limited to those

set forth in Paragraphs above.

70. Defendants made the above-referenced misrepresentations and omissions

knowingly or with severe recklessness regarding the truth.
- 71. By reason of the foregoing, the Defendants are responsible for deliberate
misrepresentation and fact and are liable to damages as a resuit.
FIFTH CLAIM

Violation of Sections 206 (1) and 206(2) of the Investment Advisers Act

This complaint repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 67.
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72. Defendants JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID SMITH, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC
MARTINEZ and BRIAN TROWBRIDGE as investment advisers, used the mails |
and means or instrumentalities of interstate commerce, directly and indirectly: 1)
to employ devices, schemes or artifices to defraud clients or prospective clients;
or 2) to engage in transactions, practices and courses of business which

operated as a fraud or deceit upon clients and prospective clients.

73. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID SMITH,
BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, JARED MARTINEZ and ISAAC MARTINEZ, violated
and, unless enjoined, will continue .to violate Sections 206(1), (2) and of the

Advisers Act [1‘5 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(}), 80b-6(2), 80b-6(4)]

‘ SIXTH CLAIM
Violation of Sections 206 {4) of the Investment Advisers Act and Rule
206(4)-8 thereunder

This complaint repeats and rea!leges. paragraphs 1 through 67.

74. Defendants JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID SMITH,BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, JARED
MARTINEZ and ISAAC MARTINEZ, as investment advisers, 1) engaged in acts,
practices, or courses of business which were fraudulent, deceptive or
manipulative; and 2) as advisers to a pooled investment vehicle:

a) made untrue statements of a material fact or omitted to state a material facts

necessary to make statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
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they were made, not misleading to investors or prospective investors in the
pooled investment vehicle; and/or

b) otherwise engaged in acts, practices and courses of business that were
fraudulent, deceptive, or manipulative with respect to investors or prospective

investors of the pooled investment vehicle.

75. By reasons of the foregoing, Defendants JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID SMITH,
BRIAN TROWBRIDGE,JARED MARTINEZ and ISAAC MARTINEZ violated and,
unless enjoined, will continue to violate the provisions of Section 206(4) of the
Investment Advisers Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(l), 80b-6(2), 80b-6(4)] and Rule
206(4)-8 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 275.206(4)-8].

SEVENTH CLAIM
Claims Against Relief Defendants as Custodian of investor Funds

76. Relief Defendants JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID SMITH, JARED MARTINEZ,
ISAAC MARTINEZ, -TRADE FX LLC, MARKET TRADERS INSTITUTE INC.,
HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST LTD., TCI BANK LTD., USIMO, MZ HOLDINGS,
COOL CORPORATION, WACHOVIA BANK and MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE,
received funds and property from one or more of the Defendants, which are the:
proceeds, or are traceable to the proceeds, of the unlawful activities of

Defendants, as alleged in the paragraphs above.

77. Relief Defendants obtained the funds and property alleged above as part of
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and in furtherance of the securities violations alleged in the above mentioned
parégraphs and under circumstances in which it is not just, equitable or
conscionable for them to retain the funds and property. Defendant Joseph Issa
placed Plaintiff's money in Cool Corporation.

He did this with pre-meditation and with intent to steal. As a consequence, Relief

Defendants were unjustly enriched.

EIGHTH CLAIM
VIOLATION OF BANK SECRECY ACT as amended by the USA PATRIOT
ACT

78. Plaintiffs restate, re-allege and incorporate by reference all allegations

contained in paragraphs 1 through 67 above as if fully set forth herein.

79. 31 U.S.C. § 5318(g) provides that the secretary of the treasury “may require
any financial institution...to report any suspicious transaction relevant to a
possible violation of law or regulation.

80. 31 C.F.R. § 103.18 requires “every bank” to “file with the Treasury

Department, to the extent and in the manner required...a report of any suspicious

transaction relevant to a possible violation of law or regulation.”

81. The actions of OLINT, I-TRADE FX, MTI, DAVID SMITH, HALLMARK BANK
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and TRUST, TCl BANK, JARED and ISAAC MARTINEZ set forth herein above

constitute suspicious transactions and suspicious activity.

82. WACHOVIA BANK, in violation of federal laws and regulations, failed to

report the suspicious transactions and suspicious activity.

83. WACHOVIA BANK failed to sufficiently verify the identity of customers
OLINT, I-TRADE FX, MTI, DAVID SMITH, HALLMARK BANK and TRUST, TCl
BANK, JARED and ISAAC MARTINEZ, all in violation of the Bank Secrecy Act

and épplicable regulations.

84. WACHOVIA BANK failed to implement and operate appropriate security
policies and procedures in violation of the Bank Secrecy Act and applicable

regulations.

85. As a result of WACHOVIA Bank’s violations, the Plaintiffs have been

damaged in an amount in excess of $8 million dollars.

NINTH CLAIM

VIOLATION OF Financial Crimes Enforcement Network; Anti-Money
Laundering Programs for Operators of a Credit Card System
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» mechanisms for suspicious activity reporting and large currency—
transaction reporting;
= BSA/AML training programs for employees; and

* internal audit reviews of the BSA/AML policies and programs.

90. As a result of MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE's violations, the Plaintiffs have

been damaged in an amount in excess of $8 million dollars

DAMAGES
91. Plaintiffs claim for damages on the basis of Defendants JOSEPH ISSA,
BRIAN TROWBRIDGE,DAVID SMITH, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARTINEZ,
OLINT, | TRADE FX LLC, MARKET TRADERS INSTITUTE INC., HALLMARK
BANKAND TRUST LTD., TCI BANK LTD. and MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE

violation of Section 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act of 1933.

Further, the Court is requested to Issue an Order directing the Defendants to pay
civil money penalties bursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act[15U.S.C. §

77t(d)}; and Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act {15U.S.C. § 78(d)(3)]

92. Defendants OLINT and DAVID SMITH with the help of JARED MARTINEZ,
ISAAC MARTINEZ, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE, HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST
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LTD., and MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE directly or indirectly have been offering
to sell, selling and delivering after sale certain securities. These ‘actions have

resulted in financial damages being incurred by the PLAINTIFFS.

RELIEF REQUESTED
93. An order of the Court permanently enjoining the Defendants JOSEPH ISSA,
DAVID SMITH, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC MARTINEZ, OLINT, | TRADE FX
LLC, MARKET TRADERS INSTITUTE INC., HALLMARK BANK AND TRUST
LTD., TCI BANK LTD. and MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE as appropriate, their
agents, servants, employees, attoneys and all persona in active concert or
participation with them who receive actual notice of the injunction by personal
service or otherwise, and each of them, from future violations of Section 5(a),5(c)
and 17(é) of the Securities Act, (15 U.S.C. 7e (a), 77e(c) and 77q(a),
Sec;,tion 10(b) the Exchange Act, (15 U.S.C. 78j(b)), and of Rule 10b-5 (17 C.F.R.
240.10b-5) thereunder and Sections 206(1),(2) and (4) of the Ad\)isers Act and
Rule 206(4)-8 thereunder.

94. An order of the Coﬁrt appointing a receiver to take control of all assets of the
Defendants JOSEPH ISSA, DAVID SMITH, JARED MARTINEZ, ISAAC
MARTINEZ, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE,MICHAEL MISICK,NEVILLE CADOGAN,
OLINT, | TRADE FX LLC, MARKET TRADERS INSTITUTE INC., USIMO, MZ
HOLDINGS, COOL CORPORATION and the Relief Defendants, to marshal and

preserve assets for the benefits of investors.
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95. An order of the Court directing Defendants to disgorge an amount equal to
the funds and benefits obtained illegally as a result of the violations alleged, plus

prejudgment interest on that amount.

96. An order of the Court directing Defendants, as abpropriate, to pay civil
monetary penalties in an amount determined as appropriate by the Court
pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. t(d) ), Section 21(d) of
the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 8u(d) ) and Section 209(e)(2) of the Investment
Advisers Act (15 U.S.C. 80b-9) for their violations of the Federal securities laws

as alleged herein.

97. An order of the Court directing Relief Defendants to disgorge an amount
equal to the funds and benefits obtained, plus prejudgment interest, as a result of

the Defendants’ violations alleged herein.

BREACH OF CONTRACT

98. Defendant David Smith received the sum of US$2,462,122.00 from the
Plaintiff Christopher Walker, US $ 5.6 million from Hylton Nesbeth and US$
300,000 from Wayne Gallimore in the capacity of a Trustee who would make
investments on their behalf. The Plaintiffs discharged the Defendant David Smith
as their Trustee or agent and demanded that he return to them either a written

reconciliation of their balance and to send the amount to them via wire transfer,
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This complaint repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 67.

86. MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE failed to implement and operate appropriate

security policies and procedures in violation of the Patriot Act

87. MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE failed to issue a Suspicious Activity Report -

“SAR" in clear violation of federal laws and regulations.

88. MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE failed to sufficiently verify the. identity of
" customers OLINT, DAVID SMITH, BRIAN TROWBRIDGE and HALLMARK
BANK and TRUST. This lack of due diligence resulted in their Compass Debit
cards bearing the MasterCard logo being used at the layering and integration

stages of money laundering.

89. MASTERCARD WORLDWIDE failed to implement appropriate regulatory
oversight on HALLMARK BANK and TRUST the issuing bank of the Compass
Debit Cards, for adherence to the BSA and other AML requirements.
MASTERCARD spent less on their examination resources on the credit card
operations of this bank than on other oberations. MASTERCARD failed to review
the AML policies of HALLMARK BANK which should include that the bank had
the following in place:

« written BSA/AML policies and programs;

« senior management involvement in the process;
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check or cash. The Trustee or Constructive Trustee David Smith has failed to do
so after receiving the instructions. Wherefore the Plaintiffs demand judgment for

damages against the Defendants David Smith and OLINT.

100. All further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff demands trial by jury of ait claims triable.

Respectfully submitted,

Daa M

David P. Rowe,£sq.

Florida Bar No.: 373575

Law offices of David P. Rowe
110 E. Broward Blvd., Suite 1700
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

(305) 731-0019
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1998 - Now However, each trader signing on to test their mettle must also put up $300 -
(HTML) essentially creating a margin account - and must sign up by December 31 to get the

100.

1834 - Now (POF) ¥
S?Nices ) The would-be traders would be required to do a minimum of 10 round-turn’ trades per
Find a Jamaican $100 deposited to their accounts, the ad said.
Careers
library A round-turn trade essentially requires the trader to execute both a purchase and a
Power 106FM sale transaction, or vice versa.
‘Wiather

51bs cripti "Clients who request a withdrawal of alt account funds without meeting the
‘:" scbrrp E_'ons.l aforementioned requirement,” the ad said, "may not withdraw the deposit giveaway
Mows by E-mai
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N?':Jsletter amount.” 1
prist Subscriptions
Interactive Locked in court battle
crat S .
Daling & Love Sources confirmed that the Smith mentioned in the advertisement was the creator of
£ ee Email Olint, which remains tocked in a battle with the Financial Services Commission andis
G westbook legally barred from conducting investment business in Jamaica, at least until the court
stboo rules on arguments heard by the parties from June this year.
screenSavers
Sabmit a Letter The i-Trade FX platform is accessible at GoTradeJamaica.com. The company, which
W/ebCam is registered in Florida, describes itself as 'amarket maker in the forex market.
W/eekly Poll
A bout Us Smith created the platform, the Financial Gleaner was advised, to allow Jamaicans {0
Advertising test for themselves how trading is done and to demystify the element of how such
ucrative retumns are possible. -
G leaner Company
ContactUs Stilt, the ad warns: "Currency trading involves substantial risk.”
Other News
S tabroek News Olint, which describes itself as an investment club, as opposed 1o being a securities.
trader, pays its subscribers returns of about 10 per cent per mnonth or 120 per cent per
annum.
Othe investment schemes, as the ESC refers to them, have cropped up across
Jamaica operated even by members of the Church.
business@gleanerjm.com
More Business . .
Foreign Exchange Brokers
£-mail this st Hedge Your Investments In Global Markets
-mai this story With Madison Dean - Min 25k
Madiso:)D(&ah.comlForex_Bmker
Print this Page .
Forex Club Forex
Letters to the Editor Open a Free $50,000 Demo Account.
Real-Time Charts, News & Research!
Most Popular Stories wiw.1BFX.com/Dermo
Top 3 FOREX Trades
3 FOREX Trades Could Tum Every $500
into $522,053 -Free Report
www.FOREX-Trading-Exposed.com
© Copyright 1997-2007 Gleaner Company Lid.
Contact Us | Privacy Policy | Disclaimer | Letters to the Editor { Suggestions | Add our RSS feed
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-arn Technical Analysis Secrets - Free Guide
~“ow Top Traders Use Cliarts for 99% Acéuracy - Click Here
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Social Media
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» aribbean Startups
» SILICON CARIBE TV

“yvid Smith’s Olint partners with iTradeFX in a
..35100 giveaway to Jamaicans

fraetedd by ingrid Riley on Friday, November 30, 2007 a1 6:18 pm.

Live Forex Trading Accounts
for Jamalcan Residents who operf wlth ﬁ; Tr-ade FX

javiza- Daad Smith, the Fx Chief of Jamaica, founder of OLINT the premier forcign exchange trading investment club has

i T ame o [Trade online forex trading platform with this giveaway. The fullpage, full colour newspaper advertisement

. “acaribe.com/2007/1 1/30/david-smiths-olint-partners-with-itradetx-in-a-us... 8/12/2009
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and the website says: David Smith is adding US$100 of his own money to Live Forex Trading Accounts for jamaican
Residents who open with iTradeFX between November [Sth and December 3ist this year at gotradejamaica.com. Of
course MTi Traders is all over this, they have been the dominant forex trading educator brand in Jamaica. They have from
day one marketed themselves as the company that taught David Smith what he knows. So this giveaway should not be

suprising.

Purely, what a powerful affiliate marketing programme Whoever thought this up, is very intuned with the psyche of the
jarmaican people has a great timing, it’s very Digicel-esque this offering. The question that's been hounding me though is this,
are Jamaicans really interested in learninig to wade farex themselves or do they simply want to understand how it works,
so as to legitimise, fortify their decision to become investors in forex trading investment clubs. Pm sure that for every 100
people Market Traders Institute (MTI) trains in their programme, less than 10% actually become farex_traders and do so

consistently.

ABout iTradeFx

i-Trade FX is one of America’s leading Forex Brokers and provider of currency .trading services for large and small
institutional and individual investors. They are based in Lake Mary, Miami, US and was founded in 2003. i-Trade FX is
registered as a Futures Commission Merchant with the Commodity Futures Trading Commission and member of the

National Futures Association. They recently announced exceptional growth in 2007, with current revenues in excess of

700% year-to-date from 2006. .

Previous StoriesThe Forex Fever Growing and Growing in JamaicaCapitalor-Swedish Forex company targeting Jamaica.

The CEO Interview.

Cashing in or Crashing- Cashplusinvestment.com is forex trading n investment club centralls the online forex trading fever

the 90s day trading disaster in waiting?

ShareThis
Filed under News & Trends.
8 Comments on “David Smith’s Olint partners with iTradeFX in a US$100

giveaway to Jamaicans”

1. Top 10 most read Silicon Caribe Stories of 2007 : Silicon Caribe says:
{...] 1. David Smith's Olint partners with iTradeFX in a US$100 giveaway to Jamaicans |[...]

January 15th, 2008 at 2:46 pm

- wrw.siliconcanbe.com/2007/1 [/ 30/david-smiths-olint-partners-with-itrade fx-in-a-us... 8/12/2009

[ A
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2. Ronny Rabe says: . s 15
Hi - just wanted to say good design and blog - cu Ronny R. :

January 28th, 2008 at 10:11 pm

3. David Smith’s Olint partners with iTradeFX in a US$100 giveaway to Jamaicans : Cashing Coconuts

says: : N

,“_5

[...] founder of OLINT the premier foreign exchange trading investment club has lent his name to iTrade online

forex trading platform with a {. ]

January 30th, 2008 at 2:35 am

4. MAXINE says:

%
%
2
R
3

Want to invest with David Smith, how do 1 get in touch with his company? | don't have time to do the

trading myself.

April 20th, 2008 at 8:22 pm

5. JohnDoe says:

Stay away from un-registered Company. David Smith is a Con Artiste just like Carlos Hill.. Just
playing a different Card trick. ..

May 6th, 2008 at 5:26 pm

8. Froposed NFA Capital Requirement - Page 44 - Forex Trading says:

[..] a very unique marketing pioy that | Trade FX was using to attract clients in Jamaica last
November: David Smith's Olint partners with iTradeFX in a2 US$100 giveaway to Jamaicans | Silicon Caribe [...}

July 15th, 2008 at 6:13 pm
7. Rich Bitch says:

Just read about how that all backfired and blew up....

July 19th, 2008 at 8:53 pm
8. John M says:

Hmm, interesting post. Wondering what site you did your researching through.

Fouruary 21st, 2009 at 9:07 pm

@ Copyrinkt 2009. all rights reserved

e siboncaribe.conv 2007/ 11/ 30/david-smiths-olint-partners-with-itradefx-in-a-us... $/12,2009
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The Globat Chwice of Farex Traders

To Whom it May Concern:

In order to stay compiiant with the National Futures Association (NFA), our registered government
body, effective March 2007, I-Trade FX will no longer accept funds from OLINT TCL. All existing
Olint TCI deposits have been transferred to JiJ Investments, LLC tocated at 255 Primera Bivd, ste
230, Lake Mary Florida, 32746 and are heid with major money center banks. All new deposits
and existing withdrawal request should be directed to:

Jid Investments, LLC
255 Primera Blvd, ste 230 LLC
Lake Mary, FL, 32746.

Account information:
Wachovia Bank

Bank account: 2000031964391
Routing number: 063107513

Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at the below information.

Sincefely,

/“
Isaac J. Martinez
President & CEO

I Trade FX, LLC
255 Primera — Suite 230 m Lake Mary FL 32749
{407) 585-0600 = (407} 585-0605 = www itradefx.com
The Global Choice of Forex Traders
Form A001

e o Lt W




4Q.uﬂ.~ul§.mx SLCTAAS NI by itmerts, @ v coreaacs wib e TCTy Radeett 35 tortres vadeg on e Foree Mokt Out Yol cang 13 bien
. . o . % N K

-1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/29/2009 Page 51 of
124

fAelaszd Dals 1271 LR 8 26 AN

e Tbnit e s

09-cv-62042-WJZ Document 1

Case 0




58 of 130

Case 0:09-cv-62042-WJZ Document 1-1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/29/2009 Page 52 of
' 124

Exhibit 3




Case 0:09-cv-62042-WJZ Document 1-1 Entered on FLSD Docket 12/29/2009 Page 53 of
124

. L

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE Case No CL 71/09

TURKS AND CAICOS ISLANDS
IN THE MATTER OF OLINT TCI CORPORATIONLTD

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES ORDINANCE 1982
- CHAPTER 122 OF THE LAWS OF THE TURKS AND CAICOS ISLANDS

AND IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION BY THE ATTORNEY
GENERAL FOR THE WINDING UP OF OLINT TCI CORPORATION
LIMITED IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST

BETWEEN
THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
Petitioner
-AND-
OLINT TCI CORPORATION LTD.

Respondent

Heard: 2™ June 2009

tHanded down: 9" June 2009 ’ -

: JANE O,
For the Petitioner: Ms R DBraithwaite 7% '___:‘g‘ L3
For the Respondent: Mr O Smith . // ; e
P AY ViR
< 1y =

RULING

APPLICATIONS

1. The matter came belore me on a Petition dated and presented by the Attomey
General dated 24% March 2009 under Scctions 92 (f) and 94 Companies Ordinance on
the ground that it is expedient in the public interest that the company should be wound
up. The question I had to decide was whether it was just and cquitable for Olint TCI
Corporation Ltd to be wound up, in the circumstances put before mie by Ms

Braithwaite, who appearcd for the Attormey General.
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2 This Petition was not opposed by the Respondent Company which took “no

position in relation to the underlying application of the Petitioner for the Winding-
Up” of the Company. The Respondent chose to file no evidence to rebut the evidence
of the Petitioner, although Mr Oliver Smith did refer the Court to sections of the
Written Decision of the Designated Panel of the Hearing Committee National Futures

Association following a hearing to consider charges against 1 Trade FX LLC (I-

Trade).!

3. There was also before me an Application made by the Petitioner, again dated

24" March 2009, secking the appointment of Mr Joseph Connolly, Managing Director
of PricewaterhouseCoopers Ltd (PWC), as the Provisional Liquidator for the
Company. Unfortunately, apparently due to the full court lists, the Application was

not listed to be heard before the Court prior to the date set for the hearing of the

Winding-1Ip Petition.

4. The Respondent opposed this application on the ground that M: Connolly was
biased or could be perceived as being biased. This submission was based on the fact
that Mr Connolly had prepared a report on the Company at the request of the
F.inancial Services Commission. In the Report, PWC set out concems about the
Company’s activities which, it was submitted by the Respondent, formed the factual
basis of the grounds relied on by the Attorney General for winding-up the Company.
The Respondent did not contend that Mr Connolly did not possess the requisite
experience and qualifications to be appointed as Provisional Liquidator. Therefore,
the crux of the allegation against Mr Connolly was that he and his firm had previously

acted as investigating accountants.

5. Regrettully, Counsel made their submissions devoid of any supporting case

authorities and, as a consequence, had to be referred to possibly relevant case law by

the Court.

PNee parazrarh 1S below
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6. On 2™ June the Court considered firstly the application for the appointment of

Joseph
Presentation of the Petition but before the making of the Winding-Up Order. The

Count made an order appointing Mr Joseph Connolly as the Provisional Liquidator.

Connolly as the Provisional Liquidator. This was at a stage after the

7. After the Court made the appointment it went on to consider whether the
Company should be wound up. After considering the evidence, the Court made an

order that Olint TCI Corporation Limited be wound up.

8. At the winding-up of the Company, Mr Connolly, who had been earlier

appointed as Provisional Liquidator, was confirmed as the Liguidator.

9. At the hearing | promised written reasons which 1 now give.

THE WINDING-UP PETITION

10. Although at the hearing | firsily disposed of the application dealing with the
appointment of the Provisional Liquidator, in this ruling I initially address the issues
surrounding the Winding-Up Petition. 1 do so, in order to put the reasons for the

appointment of the Provisional Liquidator into a factual context.

11. 1 carefully considered the evidence filed in support of the Petition. Olint TCY
Corporation Lid is a business primarily concemed with financial investments. Since
around 2007, David Smith, a director of Olint TCU Corporation Lid, has been the
subject of ongoing investigations by the Financial Crimes Unit in the Turks and
Caicos Islands into alleged money laundering in relation to Olint TC1 Corporation Lid
and 1-Trade FEX LLC. The latter is a trading platform located in Florida, U.S.A and
David Smith is its designated principal. ‘The Court, having regard to these
investigations, from July 2008 has granted production and ongoing restraint orders
pursuant to an application brought by the Attomey General under the Proceeds of

Crime Ordinance 2007.
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12.  Investigations into the activities of David Smith in relation to companies he

operated in Jamaica focused attention on Olint TC1 Corporation Lid. Olint

Corporation (Olint Jam) and Overseas Locket International Limited were Jamaican
investment companies purportedly carrying on foreign exchange dealing. It appears

that these companies were said to be showing retums in investments in excess of 10%

per month.

13.  The investigations in the Turks and Caicos Islands commenced following the
filing of “Suspicious Transaction Reports” with the Financial Crimes Unit in or
around June 2008 by TCI Bank Ltd. The report concerned an agreement David Smith
had with the Bank for the maintenance of a minimum balance of $6.5 million in an
account held by Hallmark Bank and Trust Co (Hallmark) for the benefit of Olint TCI
Corporation Ltd and David Smith. The concem arose following a request by David
Smith for the withdrawal of $1.5 million to facilitate redemptions to a number of club

members who it appears were pressing Olint TCI Corporation Lid for payment.

4. A ft;rthcr"‘Suspicious Transaction Report” was made to the Financial Crimes
Unit in relation to David Smith from Hallmark on 27™ June 2008 conceming the
beneficial ownership by David Smith and his wife Tracy-Anne Smith and Olint TCI
Corporation Ltd, TCI FX Traders Ltd and Overseas Locket International Corp.?

15. In or about 30™ June 2008, a Complaint was filed by the National Futures
Association {NFA) in the U.S.A against 1-Trade FX LLC with rcference to the
findings of an audit conducted by the NFA in relation to I-Trade FX LLC which
disclosed that I-Trade FX LLC had low levels of trading activity but was still paying

consistent retums of 10% per month to investors.

16. lHowever, Mr Oliver Smith did refer the Court to parts of the Written Decision
of the Designated Panel of the Hearing Committee National Futures Association
fullowing a hearing to consider charges against | Trade FX LLC (i-Trade). Mr Smith

referred to the footnote on page 23 of the Decision which read:

? See pasagraph 18 below
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“From the evidence in the record, although indications of money Jaundering are

present, the Panel cannot Jetermine with certainty whether Smith was engaged in

money-laundering nor whether I-Trade was complicit in that activity if it did occur.

The Panel recognises that NFA has jurisdiction over its Members® activities only and
cannot obtain documents from entities outside its jurisdiction. Therefore NFA and the
panel must lcave the review of those entities’ records, and the ultimate conclusion

about their activities, to authorities with jurisdiction over those records,”

\Mr Smith also referred to the footnote on page 29 of the Decision which read:

«F'rom the evidence in the record, the Panel could not determine whether Smith was

running a Ponzi scheme.”

17. In or about August 2008, PWC were requested by the Financial Scrvices

Commission to:

(1) analyse the deposits and payments going through the account held by
Halbmark for Olint TCI, to identify to the degree possible who the
remaining funds belong to. At a minimum, produce a detailed list of all
the individuals, and the amounts they deposited; and

(i)  perform validation procedures on a sample of due diligence and source
of funds documentation, to ensure these have been properly obtained

and documented.

18.  Mr Joseph Connoily undertook the work in September 2008. The PWC Report
was completed on and dated September 23, 2008.> PWC stated at paragraph 1.5 of the

report that:

“the pattern of receipts and payments indicate that the main function of the
{Hallmark/Olint) account was 1o collect in money from members ($220 million) and

then meet redemption requests from members (3156 million). We can find no

' Report to the Financial Services Commission On i albnark Bank and Trost Limited (Hallmark) and
Olint ¢ Corporation Lad. (Olint TCH
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evidence in our analysis of the source and application of funds of any trading profits

being received in the bank account to meet these redemption requests.”

In simple terms Olint TCI was in the business of meeting old club members' request
for redemption with new club members’ money. These redemption requests were not
just for the principal, but the principal plus the trading gains that had been inflated to
“eye catching” proportions to encourage more depositors. The characteristics of a

classic Ponzi scheme.”

PWC also indicated that it appeared that the Company was insolvent, possibly in

excess of $100 million.

19.  On 3¢ April 2009 TC} FX Traders LTD was wound up by this Court
following the presentation of a petition filed by the Attormey General on the same

grounds as were before me. Mr Smith and Mr John Wildish were co-directors of that

company. {t became apparent, that without the consent of Mr Wildish, funds were

moved and co-mingled between Ofint “TC} Corporations Lid’s account and TC] FX
‘Iraders Lid’s account at I-Trade FX LLC. At paragraphs 1.4 and 1.7 of the PWC

Report instances of co-mingling are sct out.

20. | had regard to the fact that participation-in the investment scheme was open to
the public, that promises of reiurns were made which were not sustainable, that the
company was not trading and the inter-relationship of the Directorship of Olint TC]

Corporation Ltd, TCI FX Traders and [-Trade FX LLC.

21.  As stated by me in Attorney General v TCl FX Traders Limited CL 12/09,
paragraph 10, 1 had to have regard to the balancing exercise set out by Nicholls LJ

‘1 Re Walter L Jacob and Co Ltd [1989] BCLC 345 at pp351-2, namely:

“ _ the court has regard to all the circumstances of the case as established by the
material before the count at the hearing.... The count will consider those matters which
constitute reasons why the company should be wound up compulsorily, and those

which constitute reasons why it should not. ‘The court will carry out a balancing
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exercise, giving such weight to the various factors as is appropriate in the particular

case.”

22, | also had regard to the guidance of Millett LJ in Re Senator Hanseatische

Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH [1997] 1 WLR 515 at p 526_when he stated:

“ _the decision to wind up the company is not left to the Secretary of State but to the
count, which must consider whether it is just and equitable to do so. In reaching s
Jecision the court will take into account the intcrests of all parties, present members

and creditors of the company..., as well as the interest of the public who may herealter

have dealings with the company.”

23. In these circumstances, 1 was satisfied from the evidence filed on behalf of
the Attomey General, that this invesiment scheme was detrimental to the public
interest. For these reasons, given briefly, in the light of the absence of opposition to

the Petition, I held that it was just and equitable for Olint ‘TCI Corporation Ltd to be

wound up and I so ordered.

APPOINTMENT OF PROVISIONAL LIQUIDATOR

24. | was, in the absence of an official receiver, invited by the Petitioner to
appoint Mr Joseph Phillip Connolly of PWC, as the Provisional Liquidator. I was also
asked by the Petitioner that, if an order to ‘'wind-up the company foilowed Mr
Connolly’s appointment-as Provisional Liquidator, to then confirm Mr Connolly’s
appointment as the Liquidator. Mr Connolly aitended the hearing and consented to

such an appointment. Mr Connolly’s powers will be as set out in the order of this

Court.

25. The Attomey General had standing to apply for the appointment of the
Provisional Liguidator on his public interest Winding-Up Petition. The Attorney
General swore an affidavit on 24 March 2009 and Glenda Clarke swore an atfidavit

on 2™ June 2009 in support of the Application.
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26. The Respondent did not file any affidavits in reply. In his skeleton argument
Mr Oliver Smith, Counsel for the Company, stated that “the Respondent objects to the
appointment of a member of PWC as the Liquidator, provisional or otherwise.” The
opposition 1o the appointment was based on his contention that Mr Connofly, who he
referred to as the Liquidator, “is already tangled in the investigation of the
n fact is essentially an agent of the government generally and the

Respondent, but i

Petitioner specifically. The likelihood is that this individual will be a witness for the

Crown in the pending criminal matter and as such, should be withdrawn as a

candidate and a neutral person appointed.” One flaw in this submission was that PWC
had not been commissioned to prepare the report by the Attorney (eneral’s

Chambers, but by the Financial Services Commission.

27. It appeared that a great deal of the Respondent’s concermn swrounded the
September 2008 PWC Report which had been undertaken under Mr Connolly’s
direction. It was submitted by the Respondent that the report contained findings

unfavourable to the Respondent’ and its Directors which would have to be challenged

at apy criminal trial.

28. Henderson J in The Matter of Parmalat Capital Finance Limited {2004-
7005 CILR 22) succinctly set out the role of a provisional liguidator and his

relationship with the Court to be as follows:

“49 A provisional liquidator is, of course, an officer of the court. He is expected to
report to the ceurt in a timely fashion and to apply for directions on controversial or
troubling issues arising in the course of the liquidation. He has a fiduciary obligation
to the creditors, in whose ultimate interest he is acting, and a personal obligation to
the court, which is charged with his supervision and control. Before making an
appointment, the court must be satisfied that an appoinlee will be able and willing to
accept direction from it without fear or conflict. ‘The Court must also be satisfied that

it con exercise an appropriate degree of control over its own officer.... .

' Qew paragraph 16 above
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50 The court is clothed with jurisdiction o supervise and control liquidators so that
creditors can enjoy a high level of assurance that the liquidation is even-handed, fair
and carried out according to law. A liguidator must be, and be seen to by the creditors

10 be, mdcpcndem Although the most usual cause for concem has to do with conflicts

bhetween the appointee’s duties and his own commercial interests, independence is
reatly a larger concem. A liguidator cannot owe any duty to anyonc which is

incompalible with the creditors and the court.”

| was again satistied that Mr Connolly, who 1 appointed as liquidator when making
the winding-order in refation 1o TCl -FX Traders, would be abie 10 receive direction
from the Court and will not be fettered by the fact that he has already prepared a

report for the Financial Services Commission. | was satisfied that Mr Connolly was
independent and he would work in the interests of the company and the creditors. |

was satisfied that there was no reasonable perception of bias on his behalf.

29. Counsel appeared unaware of the House of Lords case of In Re Panimaenog
Timber Co. Lid. [2004] 1 A.C. 158. Therefore the Court brought this case to their
attention and invited submissions on the same. The case was considered regionally by
the Court of Appeal of the Cayman Islands in The Matter of Parmalat Capital
Finance Limited [2006 CILR 480} (Zacca, P., Forte and Mottley, J1.A). At

paragraph 82 in Parmalat, Forte J referred to the headnote in Pantmaenog at 158-

159 where the court held that:

“3 liquidator’s functions in relation o a company which was being wound up were not
limited to the recovery and distribution of the company’s assels but extended to the
investigation of the causes of the company’s failure, and the conduct of those
concerned in its management, in the wider public interest of the appropriate action

being taken against those engaged in commercially culpable conduct...”

Forte J went on to refer to Lurd Millett's following statement in his speech in

Pantmacnog at page 158, at para. 64:

“But | reject the unspoken assumption that the functions of a liquidator arc himited 1o

the administration of the insolvent estate. This is only one aspect of an msolvency
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proceedings; the investigation of the causes of the company’s failure and the conduct

of those concemned in its management are another. Furthermore such an investigation
is not undertaken as an end to itself, but in the wider public interest with a view to
enabling the authorities to take appropriate action against those who are found to be

guilty of misconduct in relation to the company.”

30. ‘The fact that Ms Connolly had previously acted as an investigating accouniant
at the request of the Financial Services Commmission did not in itself mean that he
should have been disqualificd from being appointed as the Provisional Liquidator. In
the Australian case of Advance Housing Pty Limited (in Liquidation) v Newcastle
Classic Developments Pty Limited (1994) 15 ACSR 341 the fact that a liquidator’s
firm had been involved in an investigation of the company’s affairs was not itself a
problem, The problem, which led to the resignation of the liquidator, was that the
. company may have had a ctaim against the firm for recovery of payments made to it

in connection with the investigation. There were no such claims in the matter before

me.

31. Similarly in Domino Hire Pty Limited v Anor v Pioneer Park Pty Limited
(in liquidation) (2000) 18 ACLC 13 the liquidator’s prior role as an investigating
accountant was @ot fatal to his independence. tHe was removed, however, because his
'managcment of the winding up, including a number of irregularities, gave rise to a
reasonable apprehension that he was biased in favour of the bank which had

appointed him as investigating accountant. There were no such irregularities in the

matter before me.

32, Olimt'TCl Corpom:ion Ltd is insolvent. There are serious concerns highlighted
by the PWC Report and the NFA which inarguably require a prompt and thorough
investigation. Having regard to the serious nature of the allegations being made, the
Company’s failure and the conduct of those in charge of the company, there is a
requirement for the Liquidator to carry out the investigation. Clearly it is imperative
that competent and committed liquidators should he appointed as soon as possible to
undertake this task. It is clear that Mr Connolly has already embasked on an

investigation limited to documentation that was made available at that time. [t is clear

(KYJ
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that those investigations raised, 1o use the language of the NFA, “red flags.” As
liquidator he would be able to carry out a more informed invcstigatibn. The fact that
he has already started the investigation when preparing the PWC report is a positive
reasons for his appointment. He will not need to undertake the expensive groundwork
again and this will reduce his expenses which, in tum, will benetit the creditors. Mr
Oliver Smith has been instructed by Mr David Smith, in other related proceedings. It
may well be that Mr David Smith for personal reasons, does not want the experienced

Mr Connolly to carry out the investigation but these do not affect the eminent

suitability of Mr Connolly for this appointment.

33.  The contents of the PWC Report would have been known to the Respondent at
the time of the appointment of Mr Connolly as Liquidator in the TCl- FX Traders
case. In the Report there was mention of co-mingling of funds. Despite this, no

objection was then taken by Mr Smith, a co-director of TCI-FX Traders, concerning

Mr Connolly’s appointment.

"34.  The fact that Mr Connoily is the liquidator in this, te a degree, related company
was a further positive factor when considering the suitability of his appointment.

Henderson J in The Matter of Parmalat Capital Finance Limited at para 15

stated:

“In many, perhaps most, large insolvencies it is desirable for the same liquidator to
wind up all of the related companies. This court has recognised that reality on more
than one occasion. In Allied Iiv. Fund Ltd. V. Johuson (1) Murphy, J. beld (199
CILR at 261):

*As carly as in rc British Nation Life Assur. Assn. it was rccogniséd that it is desirable
for the same liquidator to wind up related companies. Mr Mariin’s submission that the
liguidators of TW should operate only within the ‘cocoon’ of TW does not accord
with practical necessities or authorities.....

Courts both in England and in this jurisdiction (the Cayman Islands) have approved
arrangements made by liquidators to maximise efficiecncy and so recoveries for
creditors in circumstances where related entities are being wound up. ‘The obvious
reason for taking such an approach is to avoid the incvitable waste of huge sums of

creditors” money which would result from hostile batkanised liquidations.™

3]
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35. Henderson J referred to the heipful passage taken from Re Arrows Ltd. (2)

11992 BCC at 123° per Lord Hoffmau:

r

zlppoinli;lg the same f{irm to be both provisional liquidators and receivers of the
property holding companies was, if 1 may say so with respect, eminently sensible. In
fact, it is very difficult to see how the necessary process of investigatibn could have
heen cificiently conducted if there were scparate firms representing all, or worse still

some of the receivership companies, and another firm representing the provisional

liquidators.”

36. A further factor in support of Mr Connolly’s appointment emerged from the

pages of the PWC Report. At paragraph 1.4 the Report states:

“We have now completed our analysis of the bank account and we are able to provide
a list of the depositors to the account. The list is over 100 pages long so we have not
appended it to this report. Our analysis reveals that there are over 6,000 individual
depositors. The smallest deposit is less than $100, the largest depositor, SGL Limited,
deposited over $6 million....... SGL Limited, a corporate entity, is not typical of the
majority of depositors, who would appear to be individuals. Over 3,000 of those who
invested, invested less than $20,000, many in their personal name.” '

‘This is significant, because Mr Connolly has commendably already undertaken a great
deal of work to enable him to identify potential creditors. His appointment will enable

him to be in a position to effectively communicate with the recognised creditors

without delay.

37. The Court has a wide discretion when appointing provisional
liquidators/liguidators. In deciding whom to appoint, the Court has to consider what is
in the best interests of all persons interested in the winding-up. Naturally and
appointment that would result in a saving of the time and costs of investigating the

Company’s affairs should be preferred. This consideration hardly nceds articulation,

* passage also quoted with approval in Re International Credit & Inv, Co. {Overseas) Ltd. {1992-93
CILR at 86, Harre)
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but it has to be emphasiscd in the present €asc, where it appears much money may

have already been lost (o creditors and where a great deal of time has been taken only

to get 10 this stage of the liquidation process. It is now nearly 10 months since the

making of restraint orders by the Supreme Court. There was no objection from any

creditor to the proposed appointment of Mr Connolly.

38.  Against my analysis of the benefits that would be gained from the appoiniment
of Mr Connolly, 1 considered the objections that were raised by the Respondent. It is
weil-established  that provisional liquidators/liquidators should not only be

independent and impartial, but should also be seen to do s0. Any coatlict of interest

and over-familiarisation should be discouraged. On the other hand, it is not every

connection or action that can give rise to an allegation of an appearance of lack of

independence and impartiality on which the Court should act. The preparation of the

Report at the request of the Financial Services Commission did not create a

relationship as should lead to a proper perception that Mr Connolly, if appointed,

would be partial to the Attomey Generals’ Chambers at the expense of his primary

duty to the Company and creditors.

39. With the above in mind, including the objections of the Respondent, it was
clear that Mr Connolly of PWC was the natural choice as provisional liquidator and
(hereafter if a winding-up order was made as liquidator. This liquidation needs to be
tightly run and efﬁcicntly m_nnaged. l was of the view that the best interests of the
Company and ali of the creditors would be best served by the appointment of Joseph
Connolly as the Provisional Liquidator. I was also of the view that, at the winding-up

of the Company, Mr Connolly should be confirmed as the Liquidator and I so ordered.

P e

C - ,_.:_.‘:;:-——"""":
Richard Williams (J)
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Forex Trading with EFOREX
NEW FOREX TRADERS

Unaerstand the role of the Forex Clearing Merchant and iearn die Leneiits of cunency trading.
Find out about the free Forex trading tcols EFOREX offers.

NEWTRADER 53]
AC IVE FOREX TRADERS
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Learn how to use our advanced trading platforms and review our competitive spreadé and
margins. Experience EFOREX's fully customizable tools and work stations. '

ACTIVETRADERS

The EFOREX Advantage

EFOREX is committed to providing cutting-edge technology and solutions to novice and
orofessional Forex traders aiike. With multiple trading platforms and charting options, EFOREX

is confident that we will be able to meet your Forex investment needs.

We offer the following tools and services:

FREE Forex Practice Trading Account that allows you to test your strategies risk-free

using virtual funds

Multiple world-class -

as low as two (2) pips
. o of 20001
+ Dedicated

“AMithout proper sk managennt, this high degrae of laverage can 2ad 1o targe '6sses as well as gains.

Disciaimer: Farnx (rading mvolves significant risk of loss and 1s rot sustable for everycne.

vy Education Preview

'
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Avisa pe QPERACION -
> R L
REPUBLICA DE PANAMA
MINISTERIO OE COMERCIO E INDUSTRIAS

DIRECCION GENERAL DE COMERCIO INTERIOR

Aviso oe Operacion No, Expenino A Favor pe

1559626-1-658760-2009-163450 ITRADEFX INTEANATIONAL INC.
1559626-1-658760 DV 55

Capital Inveniida: 8/.10,000.00

I-TRADEFX INTERNATIONAL

vp, ISAAC JOSHUA MARTINEZ, con nimero de pasaporte 104200063, con domicio en CALLE 23 A, CLUB X,
BETHANIA, CASA K-198, en cahdad de representanta legai de ITRADEFX INTERNATIONAL INC,, con techa de
scnshiucion 14-Abr-2008 , esta ubicado en la Provincia de PANAMA, Distiito de PANAMA, Corregimientio de

BETANIA, Urbanizacion CLUB X, Calla 23 A, Casa K-198, Teléfonos 2601237 . declaro 1o siguienta:

Ei establecimiento comercial denominado I-TRADEFX INTERNATIONAL, esta ubicado en la Provincia de PANAMA,
Distrito de PANAMA, Corregimiento de BETANIA, Urbanizacien CLUB X, Cafle CALLE 23 A, Casa X-19B.
Se dedicara a la actividades de: PAESTACION DE SERVICIOS A TRAVES DE LA INTEANET vy olras actividades

asociadas. Inicia operaciones en May-2009 .

RRNE!
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2
UM 8w ag
G374
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1 11 ¢ aso e QUE 8sle aviso Je oparacidn hays sido procesado par yna parsons distinta =) repressntonie fegal o administrador dot ostabilacimiento
ads, por 10 que doberx firmer of 3v180 da Operacidn on confunto cua

cumerc e, Jitha parsons serd dartsma: p: ble de is infor
of tepresontante tagal © ot tal, spgun w08 of casa.
Nactara bnio ls geavedad dal jursmento que 1oe4 1s Inlor tdn por ml ») slab Penam al mprande cn »l prosenia procnso de Avisn de
! JIperechin son clertos . /\
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? € 3ta Auino o Gparacidn, Jebero sor improso, bimoalslomonts y Nrmudce par |0qu:ur os nu[ parecon en is parte nforlas deb mtsma. Adamis Jebe
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.{ ¢ Irene dal Declarents (Tramitndor)
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Corporate Headquarters
400 Colonial Center Pkwy, Suite 300

_? e F Y Lake Mary, Florida 32746
V4 Toll Free: 800.842.6061
Fax: 407 585.0605

Certitication is made and effective April 24, 2009.

vrlos Garcia, do hereby attest and affirm the attached document entitled:

- RITURA PUBLICA NUMERQ CINCO MIL CIENTO TRIENTO Y SIETE

3R LA CUAL SE PROTOCOLIZA EL PACTO SOCIAL DE LA SOCIEDAD ANOMIA
SMOMINADA ITRADEFX INTERNATIONAL INC.

s translated into English by my hand and oversight as demonstrated by the attached

. ument entitled:

»{IBLIC DEED NUMBER FIVE THOUSAND ONE HUNDRED AND THIRTY SEVEN ----
_i%7)----PROTOCCL 8Y WHICH THE COVENANT OF THE ANONYMOUS COMPNAY

“+..LED INTRADEFX INTERNATIONAL INC.
—

Z i
;boature /dv?//é-/‘é/?/m ) P ens
TS
r—=¢n
—

-+ Garcia
xanipliance Analyst b
b3

:
L IR
d374

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

minole County, Florida

- April 24, 2009 before me, Tania Keen, notary, Carlos Garcia personally known to
_knowledged to me that he executed the Certification in his authorized capacity.

uess my hand and official seal.

k,

Nortary

V= Va e = -
RS LR rhotary 150 Stute of Fonde
? “" 1.0 Xoan

. o + Ay O INON aTA0346
" op £ apmes e oY
AANAN

Op 1
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" doscicntes tricinta y rueve- mil mescientos sesenta y ocho (8-239-1368) y CARLOS ETIENNE, con cédula de

ESCRITURA PURLICA NUMERO CINCO MIL CIENTO TREINTA Y SIETE~-~ ey §,13 7).
-

POR LA CUAL SE PROTOCOLIZA EL PACTO SOCIAL DE 1A SOCIEDAD ANONIMA

DENOMINADA ITRADERX INTERNATIONAL INC.

v
En l/n Ciudsd de Panamé, Capital Je Ja Repuiblica y Cabecera det Circuito Notarial del mismo nomobre, 8 los scis

'4
(6) dlas dei mes de abril del afio dos mil nueve (2809), antz mi. LICENCIADO JAVTER DANTLO SMITH I

CHEN, Nuanio Piiblico Novena, Primer Suplente, del Circuito de Panama, con cduls de identided personal

aumero ncho-descientos veintiséis-novecientos doce (8-226-912), comparecid personalmente ¢l <cdor GABRIEL :

LAWSDN, varén. panameio, mayor de edad, casada, comerciante y abogado en escicio, porador de ls céduls

— — .
de identidad personal nimcro ocho-tresci fiez-quini sesenta y ocho ¢ 3-310-568), vecing de esta cludad,

ik A B
ceemesimn e e e . Prnnmd, 6 de abril de 2009 —— “‘g. 3
e ¥ i U
R

v LINNL'TI'I NUﬂEZ. mujcr. panamefia;, mayos de cdad, cxade, comerciante, pmmlon Je 1 cédula dc, o
_/ N

identidad pcﬁona! ndimero ocho-cuatrocientos treinta y oche-quinientos acho (8433 508), vecing de esta cludad, i ¥
M 23

ambos actuando en su propic nombee y representscion, personnas a quicnes conozeo, y me SNHTEgATON pars S |Jx

protocolizicién y ul efectn pratocoliza ¢) certiticado de corsutucion de la soclodad andnims denominada

r?

TFRADEFX INTERNATIONAL INC.

QUEDA HECHA )a protocalizacién selicitadn, y se entregnran las copias guc soliciten los intcresados, ——— —c-

SE DEJA CONSTANCIA que esta Escriturn Pliblica se hace sobre 1a hase de minuts presentada por ¢l abogade en A

ejercicio GABRIEL. LAWSON.--— —
ADVERTI a los comparecizntes que una copis Je esta Excritura debe registrarse; y leida como Je fue Ia misma, cn

presencia de los testigos instrumentales, MA YLENE GUZMAN, con cédula de identidad personal nimero ocho-

ientidad personal numero ccho-quinientos uno-ciento cuarenta y dos (8-501-142). ambos mayores de vdad,

vecinos Je esta ciudad, 3 quienes conozco y <on hidbiles pam el cargo, !s encontraron conferme, le impastieron su

aprebacidn y fs firman para constancis por ante mi ¢l Nownio que Joy fe.

-

£SCRITURA PUBLICA NUMERO CINCO MIL CIENTO TREINTA ¥ SIETE—— {$137)—e

(Fdo.) GARRIEL LAWSON-

(Fdo.) MAYLENE GUZIMAN — - —onees

(Fdo.) LICENCIADO JAVIER DANILO SMITH CHEN, Nowvrie Piblics Nevenn, Prisrer Siplente. -

PACTO SOCIAL DE LA SOCIEDAD AN()NI’VM BLARSMY MARKETING, §. A Primera: I nombre de

e

Hul‘ll “ =
w >t

e e eeiFdo) LINNETTI NUNEZ jf50

{Fdn.) CARLOS F.Tu-:NNr,i o

|

3
{n sociedad es: ITRADEFX INTERNATIONAL INC. )c,mnw‘ L4 sociedad rended e domictio en a ('iuJudJ S

a3id
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f‘\l/\ sociedad y ca sus asencius temporalos (a Representacidn Leget de 1a sociedad serd eiercida por el secrctario o
. ,_/ ;
quien Jesigne ja hunta Directiva de la sociedad. Decimosegundo: Los Dignotarios de la socicdad scrdn: [f
" ' ~RESTDENTE: ISAAC MARTINEZ, SECRETARIO: JACOB MARTINEZ, TESORERO: JARED
¢ .
g |

|
| directeres Je tw sociedad serén® ISAAC MARTINEZ, JACOB MARTINEZ y JARED MARTINEZ, todos con

i, Distrilo de Panama, Provincis de Panam4, Repiblica de Panamd, quicn manifiesta que acepta ef cargo. ——~—--—--

124

L .
Repubiica Tercero: 1.a duracién Jc la sociedad sera grerpe

servicios 8 Iraves de ia internet y el comercio clectionico, wnversiones en general y cunlquier sctividad tcita
previstacn fa Ley. uinto, La socieded podr hacer cuanto ses necesasia en desarmolln de los fines enumersdos en [§

este pacle weial, 0 10 yue sea necesasio o convenicriz pars la proteccion y beneficio Je fa sociedad. Sexto: £} i

capitad sociad autonzado serh de DIEZ MIL DOLARES ($ 10,000.00), monais de curso legal de los Estados
Unidos Je América. dividido en CIEN (100) acciones comusnes y nominativas de un valor nomine) de CIEN
DOLARES ($ 160.00). moneda ds cmcgal Je los Bsrados Unidos de América, cada accién. Séptimg Los

e

responsabilidad de cada accionista estara L

L2 Junta Dircctiva se compondrd de 1o menos de tres {3) ni mas de siete {7) Directores elegidas por mayorfs de

volos en Junta de Accionistas. Dégcimo Micniras {a Junta General de Accionistas no dispenga oua cosa, los

domicil:o en Custrocicmas (400) Colonial Center Parkway, Suite Trescientos (300). Lake Mary, Estado de (A

‘Legal de 1a

FLORIDA. £STADOS UNIDOS DE AMERICA. Decimoprimerg: El President €3 ¢) Repre

AARTINEZ. Decimotercerg: El Agente Residente de s scciodad es el abogado en ¢jercicio GQ_B_R!EL

LAWSON, con oficinas ubicadm'e{cl Dorado Mall, locat nimero veinticuatro {24), Coeregimicnto de Bethania,

f: fe y Testimonio de lo cual expedimos y firmamos ¢l prescnte PACTO SOCIAL; en le ciudad de Panam4, alos |

ceis (6)/5&&'« Jias el mes de abril del afio Jos mii nueve (2009).

ESTA ESCRITURA CONSTA DE DUS (2) PAGINAS., ~-—--

"=

|
'!

CONCUFPRA con su-original esta ¢opia que expido. sg;\uj twmo en la Ciudad e Panaund, a tes wis 14Y Jins

i

f

|

el ises de ubnldel a0 Jos mil nueve (2€09).- /‘ e jo2 Smeee f
l"u l

|
|

de Pana{gk“ﬁero ;3!1-& establecer y cperar sucumales y agemcias en cualquier fugar, dentro o fucrs de la tL

No obstante podri disalveese en cualquier momento il

de conaformidad con fa ley. Cuarto: Los cbjetos dc 1a sucicdad serin de intermartiacidn cemercial y prestacion de ! v

avivy
3

473388

EETN :
.o 3LY1S40 A4

suscriptores Je esie pacto social convienen cn suscabirc una (3) accidn del capital cads wno. Qciave: La I

tada a 2 suma, si ta hubiere, que adeuda sobre sus acciones. Noveno: |y .

7
(JRERERY

gyt kd 8- AVK BOBR
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REPUBLIC ©F ZANAMA
MOTARIAL PAERER

MOTARTAL OF [HE NINTH TIRTUIT OF EANAMA

-3
> o3
e po srrengn FIVE e sw . RPN AN TRIRMY et R -
FUBLIC CEED NUMBER FIVE THCUSAND ONE HUMDREC ANG THIRTY-SRVEN s, S
) . s . >
EROTQURL LY HEICH THR  COVEMANT  GF THE  ANONTMOLS COMPANY C.‘ALLEI‘_'-~-§—’n
ey, < _2
LIFALEEX INTERMATIONAL TNC. - oo eommivmmcman o OG- e o
< [e- B
———————————————————————————— Panama, April é »ocn | AR L T ) NN A ¢ |
()

nal
. - . . - . . . - -T-,
In Parnrma Cirty, Capital of rhe fepublic and Mead of tpe Motarial Ciref ot Ehe

e
=y
, . Co X . - ) > B
Same neme, oo the Sixkth (érh! Cay of Acril, Twc Theusand MNine (2267 fqbe‘grc
) m
~e, LRWYER JAVIER SMITH CHEN, Hinth Notary Public, First Ceputpy. cf Pha
Tircuit of Panama, with personal ldentity card number 2ight-two hundred twenty
Jix-nine hundred twelve (8-22£-312), appeared Ferscpally Mr. GABRIEL LAWSON,

nale, Fanamanian, ot legal a9e, married, businessperson anpd practicing lawyer,

tearer of identity card nomber eight-three hundraa ten-five hundred Sixty eiqghc
3-115-568), 3 resident of this city, and LINNETTI NUNEZ, female, Panamanian,
€ legal age, married, businesspersen, tearer ol pecsonal identity card number
ritght-four hundred thircy eight-five hundred and oight {3-438-808), a residont
=f this city, both acting on their own behalf, people whn are “nown Lo me and
protocols for protocol and the effect of the cernificate of incorporition
,mcnyr.nous called ------ TTRADEFX INTERNATIONAL INC. e N
5 MADE protocols required, and deliver the ~opies requested by thao
stakeholders. Reflects that this public deed is made on rhe basis of iill
rmitted by the legal practitionsr GABRIFL LAWSON. - - .- T e e
icened those appearing that a =opy of this document should ke recorded and read
i 1T was the same in the presence of witnesses instrumentals, MAYLENE GUZMAM,
«ith personal identity card number eight-two hundred thirty ninse-cne thansancd
-heee hundred and sixty-eight (8-239-1368) and CARLOS ETIENNE, with personal
dentity .v;ard rumbar eight-five hundred and one-~ceoe hundred farty-two (3-501 -
VAT, morth 2f leaal age, cesidents of rhis <ity, who are kacwn ard are chle to
tirae, fteund in agreement, fas apprsved and siqne for rae rocord betore me bv

S Notary  taitho-eeeooo .l

FUBLIC DEED NUMBER FIVE THOUSAND SEVEN HUNBRED AND THIRTY (5, 1370 . =mm e
'$igned. ) GABRIEL LAWSON T e e
Cigned.) LINNETTI NTNEZ T e e e e
frined.)  MAYLENE — GUZMAN  ——-=meceoooo. e T
‘Signed.)  CARLOS  ETIENNE  --oo-moeomeooooooo

‘S*rmed) LAWYER DANILO JAVIER SMITH CHEN, i oy Fubilbie, Freon

FURRNTTETAY SONTNAIS CRPANY b AGTNE MIRETN. <A b Ll The name ot
Ty s ITRADEFX  INTERMATTONAL TN e ey w3l s
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M drmicy led tn Fanamt City, DEt nay curabBitsh brancres and agqoancires arel oaperate

wnywhore within cr ontside fnhe Repnbiic, fhitd: The lizacisn ol The oaepiny

“ha'l be pereetaal. dowever, may ©e disuolved or any time wn accordance @itn

Do jaw.  Feurzh: Fhe  wbjectives Sf  the ueciesy  are  of a0 ooamerooal

faenrmediabicn  ond  uervices  Through  the  inkterned ond  elecrronxc  oommerce,
LLwnstments in general arnd any ather VawfFui acrivisy under the Ac:. Fifth: The
sempgany nay o woatever 15 necessary on ~he development of Joais i J4y1 l%gfniﬂ
tcr the Pl'm& aar‘
=
Lenefit of rne society.  Sixth: The cwthecized sapiral recial ?ﬁfﬂl "f'\
15600.00), lagal zonder of rhe inited States tgjamo tic: f"
{100} reminatives ond commen shares wAcrrnxsnbm P:E;;
valie cf cne hundred doilars (3 1C0.60), urrency ieqai render of U te.
Seventh: The «ubscribers of the g%fﬁl ggct

tighth: The re:cnn;%llltq"‘t

ceeriand face, ~r wrhatever 1s necessary Cv sopwvenyant

thovzand dellars (3

Jdivided tnte one nundred

“rates of America, wach charel

wireed te assign cne {1} vhare of capiral each.

.sach shareholder shall be the sum, if any, payaple on their shares. Ninth: Th2

toard shall be compesed of no less than three {4) and po more than zeven (7)

Girestors elected oy majority vote at sharehclder meerings. Tenth: While the

ehapehalders otherwise previde, the directors of th2 company shall te: ISAAC

MARTINEZ, JACOB MARTINEZ, JARED MARTINEZ, oll residing at
hundred (300}, bLake Mary, State of
the lsgat

Four hundred

(400) Celenial Center Parkway, Svite Three
vLORIDA, MUNITED STAFES OF AMERICA. Ele sventh: The President is

copresentative cf the ccmgany “and in tempocary  absense, the Legal

~aprasentation shall be exercised by the ccmpany secrnbary or person daesrgranad

by the Board of Direccers of the caompany. Twelfth: The directors of the society

‘il ke PRESIDENT: ISAAC MARTINEZ, SECRETARY: JACOB MARTINEZ,

CSASURER: JARED MARTINEZ. Thirteenth: The Resident Agent of the corgporaticn

il

the legal practitioner GAERIEL LAWSON, with offices lecacted in the Doraio

wall, Leocal Bumber twenty-four {24), Cocrregimiento e Bethania,  Panamna

Listrict, Panama [rovince, Republic of Panama, who <cays that in accepting Lhe

R b }. Toestimony whereof iss ued and signed by rhas Caeial Fact in Panamd

| i

City, dixth (5th)  Day of Aprit, [wo Theusanl thas (2309 .

MIATS NP THIS WRITIMNG (2) PAGES . -ow==--—-

i aqree with your sciginal copy is insued, stamp and sianature tn Penama Civy,

(MY e ws e ———— .

s Yixtny ifchiday of April, Twe Thousand HHoe (o

L0 Snama AT Yeer oo LLEIE R P B HER!
el A eab: (E 3
prresen 1rterl SARRIEL PAWEIN Bocplo ot 3t TR I S
Pl iy Mo TN TER Tt al b Gt

oAy R
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FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

Division of Corporatiens
v 20, 2009

SAESTRADA
© > SLONIAL CENTER PKWY STE 300

S MARY, FL 327446

" JECT: - TRADE FX INTERNATIONAL INC.
-1 Number: W090000204 10

. have received your document for -TRADE FX INTERNATIONAL INC. and
i1 check{s) totaling $87.50. However, the enclosed document has not been

-+ and is being returned for the tollowing correction(s):

not available in Florida. An out-of-state

wcation whose name is not available must adopt an alternate corporate name
:¢ 1n Florida. The aiternate corporate name must contain "Incorporated.”
. pany, "Corporation,” "Inc.,” "Co.," "Corp," "Inc," “Co," or *Corp." Please

; e alternate corporate name in the space provided in number one of the

swealion.
- adding *of Florida” or "Florida” to the end of a name is not acceptable.

. rame of your corporation is

;turn your document, along with a copy of this letter, within 60 days of
-3 wilt be considered abandoned.

S tave any questions concerning the tiling ot your document, please call
;. 15-6928.

“wrch
tory Speciatist Il Letter Number: 209A00014644

co ol Corperatimes PO ON R Coattahinzeee Blarida 031t
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AFFIDAVIT

This Affidavit is made and effective as of May 6. 2009,

ON BEHALF OF: I Trade FX International, INC. (the Company), a corporation
organized and existing under the laws of Seminole County,

Florida with its head office located at:

114 Boulder Court
Sandford, Florida 32711

FOR THE BENEFIT OF: i-Trade FX International, INC, (the Foreign Company) a
corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
Province of Panama with its head office located at:
Calle 23, AClub X
Bethania, Casa K-198
Panama .
t

RECITALS

I, Isaac J. Martinez, in my capacity as the Director for the Company hereby affirm the l

lovsing:

‘he Company submitted an affidavit of dissolution for the Florida registered entity
09000035677 on May 4, 2009. The Company does not intend to revoke the

voluntary dissolution.
The company hereby releases the name, [ Trade FX [nternational, INC. for the benetit

and use of the Foreign Company.
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Sigpature &7
izaac J. Martinez
Director
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Seminole County, Florida

On May 6, 2009 before me, Sylvia Alvarez, notary, Isaac J. Martinez personally
edged, to me, that he executed the attached Affidavit in his

known to me acknowt!
al seal.

authorized capacity. Witness my hand and offici

Signatu re;_‘j

Neétary

v ’v'q. Metary Pubke State ol Floda

\ ~ Syivia Avare2

3,;1 j My Commission 00551265
oy Eapites 054192010
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APPLICATION BY FOREIGN CORPORATION FOR AUTHORIZATION TO TRANSACT
BUSINESS IN FLORIDA

IN GOMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 607.1503, FLORIDA STATUTES, THE FOLLOWING i85 SU BMITTED TO
RECISTER 4 FOREIGN CORPORATION TQ TRANSACT BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF FLORIDA.

, i-Trade FX International Inc.

L T
Iz 2
[=—4
{Enter nume of corperation; must include “INCORPORATED,” "COMPANY,” “CORPORATION,” rr:g -
“Ine..” "Co.” "Corp.” "Ing,” "Co,” or "Corp.") Bin =
= <
L
(/‘)"-3 )
ARSI
(53]
1T name navarlable in Florida, enter allernate corporate name sdopied for the purpose of transacting busmess ia Hfo_t_ug}‘ 2
oo Song S
Panama D ®
2. 3. — > £
i State or country under the law of which it is incorporated) (FE} number, if applicable) = 23
. April 6, 2009 ;. Perpetual

(Date of incorporation)

.. May 1, 2009

(Duration: Year corp. will cease (o exist or “perpetual™)

{Date first transacted business in Florida, if priors to registration)
(SEE SECTIONS 607.1501 & 607.1502, F.S,, to detesmine penalty liability

7 Calle. ZﬁhiC/ubX /?e#mma Coen K- 198 /:gumzma

(Prmcnpal office address)

. 400 Colomal Center Parkway, Suite 300, Lake Mary, FL 32746

(Current mailing address)

. Administrative services for principal corporation

i’ urpoec(s) of corporation authorized in home state or country 1o be carried out in state of Flornida)
~ rne andstreet address of Florida registered agent: {(P.O. Box NOT acceptable)
rame.  1s@ac J. Martinez

Oftice Aadress. 400 Colonial Center Parkway Suite 300

Lake Mary tloria 32746
(City) {Zip code)

i0. Repistered agent’s acceptance:

ITaving been nomed as registered agent and to accept service of process for the above stated corporation at the place
dessiynated in this application, I hereby accept the appointment as registered ugent and apree to act in this cupacity, 1
fit rther apree to comply with the pPyvisions of all statuies relative o the proper and complete performance of my dutie 5.

wrad 1 cen funziliar with and accee e vhligations my pos iffon as registered agent.
/"'\

“(cuarcrcd apent x )gn stire)

o e venifieate of existence duly authenticated. not mere Than 0 days privs to deitsery of s application to
LA bepitiag

went 1 State, by the Secretary of State or other official having custody of corperate records i the jusisdicien
under the law ofwhich i iy incosporated.
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2. Names and business addresses ot otticers andior directors:

A. DIRECTORS
Isaac J. Martinez

Chawman;

sgress: 400 Colonial Center Parkway, suite 300
Lake Mary, Florida 32746 C Dus re.
: o =
Vice Chairrman: {:'r;;. X
r;; =< M
Addresst _ R - IS B
ey
"o m
—F

birector: J@COD N. Martinez
400 Colonial Center Parkway, suite 300
Lake Mary, Florida 32746

Jared F. Martinez
400 Colonial Center Parkway, suite 300

Lake Mary, Florida 32746

Address:

L) mn.mr

A ddress:

3. OFFICERS
Isaac J. Martinez

400 Colonial Center Parkway, suite 300

Address:

Lake Mary, Florida 32746

President:

ol dents

Jacob N. Martinez
400 Colonial Center Parkway, suite 300, Lake Mary, Florida 32746 |

Secretary:

Address:

J_gared F. Martinez
400 Colonial Center Parkway, suite 300, Lake Mary, Florida 32746

Freasuser:

Address:

slach an} ddendum to the application listing additional otticers sndlor directors.

& o L

(Nign: ll\llL of Direclor or Officer listed in number 12 of the 1, pm ation

l)zret,tor-Presxdent

e |
Uy jed or printed name nd ¢ ); acity ol pgr\nn \'U"”L— ‘ppm o)
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ACH \wousig [}\01331\0

PRIVATE CLUB MEMBER AGRIZEMENT

.3 -
This Agreement is made the 3 day of _a AmaeX ).ousbetween Hallmark Bank
2, Trust Ltd., a bank incorporated in the Turks and Caicos Islands, sitaated at Tropicana Plaza,
P O. Box 856, Leeward Highway, Providenciales Turks apd Caicos 1:lands hereinafter referred to

-3 the Company” and

CAR YT P Wat LD S o of

TS G oyt SN Livapsanead FL 'gﬂs\’(residential address)

hereinafter referred to as “the Customer”.

Whereas:

“fhe Company, as part of its pusiness, places client funds in the currency exchange market
through Olint TCI Corporation Ltd. for investment in leveraged foreign exchange transactions and
manages a privateé club for those persons: (the Customers) wishing ‘0 invest in leveraged foreign
exchange transactions.

And whereas both the Company and the Customer are desirous «f entering into a relationship
which will be provided on the terms and conditions set forth:

And whereas both the company and the customer have HEREBY AGREED AND DECLARED AS

‘FOLLOWS:
1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

in this Agreement unless the context otherwise requires:
1.4 “Margin” shall mean any investment given to the Company a: any time;
1.2 “gervices” shalt mean taking margin leveraged speculative C irency positions;

13 = "Clb Membes” shall mean any individual or company that has applied to and been
accepted to become a member of that group that has proviced funds to the Company for

. investment in foreign exchange transactions,;

1.4 “Investiment Manager” shall mean Olint TC1 Corporation Ltd. who has its registered office
at Tropicana Plaza, Leeward Highway, Providenciales, TLrks & Caicos Islands which
said company invests Customer funds in leveraged foreigr exchange transactions and

reports out Customer holdings in the foreign exchange markets to Club Members;

1.4 Words expressed in any gender shall where th2 context su requires of permits include
any othef gender;

1.5 In this Agreement words importing persons shall inclide bodies cerperate and
pantnerships and other incorporated bodies and vice versa;

16 In this Agreement words expressed in the singular shall whe re the contoxt so requires of

permits include the plural;

epmerm e, T T




1.7

2.3

2.4

2.5
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2.7
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The headings and clauses in this Agreement are inserted for ease of reference only and
shall not affect ihe construction of this agreement.

CONTRACTUAL RELATIONSHIP

In connection with becoming @ Club fdember, the Customer acknowledges that Customer
ing the genvices offered

nas been advised and understands the following factors ceoncern
pussuant to this agreement;

tnis Agresment carf a high degree of risk. The

The Services provided pursuant to
ith the provision of services.

customer will be entirely responsible for the risk associated

All sums invested pursuant
matgined leveraged speculative currency positions via the investment Nanager. Al

qains on irades will be added to this Margin and all loss2s shall be subtracted by the
Investment Manager. Further, losses May arise as @ resul of fluctuations in the exchange

rates which will in turn affect currency prices.

Margins will be invested within 40 working days after acceptance of the Customer as 8
Club Member unless in the sole discretion of the Investment Manager market conditions
re not favourable for investment in which case the Margin will be held by the company in
an interest pearing account. Eighty percent of the margin is guaranleed by the
Investment Manager. Margin leverage on trades will vary in @ range of 10-1 to 50-1.
Under normal market condition, trades will be executed at ¢ \argin leverage levels of 20-1.

The Investment Manager reserves the right to change the riargin leverage at any time.

Customers will not be accepted by the Company as Club Members untit funds have been
he Company AND required "Know Yyour Client” and source of funds

received by U
information has also been received and appreved by the Company and the fnvestment

Manager

ent Manager shall have full unfeitered discretion as to how the Margin in

The Investm
invested subject only to a-duty to act with reasonable commercial prudence having
gn exchange transactions. The

regard to the speculative nature of leveraged forei
Company shall have no duty lo inquire into the exerciss of the Investment Manager's

discretion.
AUTHOR!SAT!ON TO TRANSFER FUNDS

Except with the specific written permission of the Cusomer, the Company and the
Investment Manager will not transfer funds frory or amongd Sustomer’s accounts. :

WARRANTIES AND GUARANTEES

The Company and the Investment Manager make no express of implied warranties save
4nd except for those contained in this agreermnent regardiny) the service provided by them.
The Company, e Investment Manager and their represuntatives shall not be liable for
any interruption, inaccuracy, error of omission, regardess of cause wn the seivie
provided. NO \WARRANTY, GUARANTEE OR REPRESENTAT!ONS HAVE BEEN
MADE OR ARE MADE WITH RESPECT TO RATE3 OF RETURM  AND THE
CUSTOMER SPECIFICALLY ACKNOWLEDGES AMD AGREES THAT M
UNDERSTANDS THE HIGH RISK NATURE OF FOREIGY EXCHANGE TRADING AND
THAT HE COULD LOSE A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF HIS INVESTMEMT.

to this Agreement will be usad as a margn for taking’

e
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COMMUNICATION

Statements will be provided by the Investment N:anager on «t rnonthly basis regarding the
~ustomers account to an address to be provided by the Customer. The Customer is
responsible fof providing the Investment Manager with updzted contact information at all
times. All communications will be sent by the investment Manager using electronic mail,
facsimile of otherwise against receipted delivery and will b2 deemed to be received on
the business day next following the date of transmission. The Customer agrees that
neither the Company nor the Investment Manager will be 1esponsible for any delays in
iransmission. Al notices to the Company shall be sent to the address of the tnvestment
tanager of to such other address as advised to the Customer from time 10 time.

LIABILITY

The Customer agrees to remise release and forever waive all liabilities of the Company
or the investment Manager which may arise as a result of this agreement, save and
except for any actions or inactions of the Company oF investment Manager which amount
to fraud with intent to deceive or gross negligence.

TERMINATION
This Agreenent can pe terminated at any time by either of the parties. Ten working days
notice however is required to encash margins.

FORCE MAJURE

Neither party shall be liable for any' failure in the performance of any of its cbligations
under this agreement caused by factors outside its control.

VARIATION

No variation or amendment of this agreement of oral promise of commitment refated to it

shal) be valid unless committed to writing and signed by or 0 pehalf of both parties.

LAW

This Agreement shall be governed by the Laws of the Turks: and Caicos islands and the
Customer consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supieme Court of the Turks and
Caicos lslands on all matters regarding it except to the extent that the Company invokes
the jurisdiction of the courts of any other country.

Page 84 of

v




V . .

D— 124

91 of 130

The Customer represents that he has read and understands his obtigiations under this Agreement
and agrees and acknowledges that the Agreement will control the cu stomer's relationship with the

Company and the Investment Manager.

oy T 1

Signed for and on behalf of
THE CUSTOMER Vitnessed by:
| 0
¢ P Tm——d Y W
LA Lapw WSV Se.e2d Loans

Erint Mame Print Name

OLINT TCI CORPORATION LTD.

By

/"/‘

DIRECTCR

HALLMARK BANK & TRUST LTD.

By
W

CEO
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LED
NATICNAL FUTURES ASSOCIATION F1
BEFORE THE ‘
BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE JUN 30 2003

MATIONAL FUTURES ASSOCIATION

1. Miatter of: LEGAL DOCKETING

"ADE FX LLC
- A 1D #367140),

and NFA Case No. 08-BCC-014

G MARTINEZ
1D #369360),

Nt ol e e et N o e et et

Respondents.

COMPLAINT
Having reviewed the investigative report submitted by the Compliance
wtiment of National Futures Association ("NFA™), and having found reason to
Ve th.at NFA 'Requirements are l;eing, have been, or are about to be violated, and
. the ratter should be adjudicated, NFA's Business Conduct Committee
.n:-'nitteé") issues this Complaint against | Trade FX LLC (“I-Trade") and Isaac
7 ("Martinez”).

ALLEGATIONS

JURISDICTION

At all times relevant to this Complaint, I-Trade was a futures commission
mrchant ("FCM™) and Forex Dealer Member ("FDM") of NFA.  As such, |-Trade
was and Is required to comply with NFA Requirements and is subject to

disciplinary proceadings for violations thereof
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At all times relevant to this Complaint, Martinez was a listed principal and

P

registered associated person (*AP") of I-Trade, and an NFA Assaciate in
accordance with NFA Bylaw 301(b). As such, Martinez was and is required 0
comply with NFA Requirements and is subject to disciplinary proceedings for
violations thereof. !;'Trade is also liable for viofations of NFA Requirements
committed by Martinez during the course of his activities on behalf of I-Trade.

BACKGROUND

3. | Trade has been registered as an FCM since August 3, 2006 and solely
conducts retail, off-exchange forex business. Martinez is the firm's president, a
registered AP, an NFA Associate, and listed principal of the firm. As of NFA's
April 2008 audit, I-Trade had approximately $10 million in customer habilities and
approximately 3,000 active customer accounts, though only nine of these
accounts had more than $50,000 in equity. |

4. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Jacob N. Martinez (“Jacob Martinez"} and
Jared F. Martinez ("Jared Martinez’) were also principals with an ownership
interest in the firm, as well as the brother and father, respectively, of Martin:ez.

For approximately nine months in 2007, -Trade listed David Smith ("Smith”) as a

f]

principal since he contributed almost 100% of the firm’s capital. At all times
relevant to this Complaint, Smith lived in Turks & Caicos and operated two
entities, Olint Corporation (*Olint”) and TC1 FX Traders (“TCI"), which appear to’
ve investment clubs in the Caribbean for high net worth individuals.'

The Financial Services Commission of Jamaica ("FSC"} investigated Ofint and
Sran for allegedly offering ilegal securities, and issued a cease and desist order in
\3ar~4 2006 that, among other things, prevented Olint from accepting new members.
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Because of concerns about Smith's background and the scurce of funds he used

.(T.I

to capitalize -Trade, NFA asked the firm to provide Smith’s personal bank

. .cords. 1-Trade firm withdrew Smith as a principal on December 31, 2007 and
repaid his membership interest in the firm when it was unable to obtain Smith'’s
bank records.

Over the course of several months, NFA investigated I-Trade’s operations and
found accounts held in the name of Smith-related entities (i.e., Olint and TCI), as
well as certain other accounts, were at the center of suspicious money transfer
activity that I-Trade failed to report.

APPLICABLE RULES

NFA Compliance Rule 2-9(c) and a related Interpretive Naotice ("Notice”) require
1n FCM Member to develop and implement a written anti-money laundering
("AML") program. NFA Compliance Rule 2-9(c) also states, in p.ertinent part, that
a firm's AML program must establish and implement policies, procedures and

" ternal controls reasonably designed to assure compliance with the applicable
orovisions of the Bank Secrecy Act, and designate an individual (or individuals)

‘v implement and monitor the day-to-day operations and the program’s internal

controls.

O v ppealed the FSC order to the Jamaican Supreme Court in March 2007, and the
G wean Supreme Court upheld the FSC order in December 2007. Olint appealed the
Sugreme Court decision, and NFA believes the appeal is still pending.
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Among other things, the Notice related to Compliance Rule 2-9(c) highlights the
minimum standards that are part of an adequate AML program. provides
additional guidance on satisfying the requirements of Compliance Rule 2-9(c),
and discusses key components of the firm's policies, procedures and interna)
controls, including detecting and reporting suspicious activity. The Notice
provides examples of suspicious transactions, includes detailed information
about monitoring accounts for suspicious activity, and identifies wire transfer
activity as one area that firms should give heightened scrutiny and requires
monitoring in this area to include review of unusual wire transfers.

In addition, the Notice provides specific examples of “red flags” that could cause
firms to investigate further, including:

. engaging in extensive, sudden or unexplained wire activity;

. transactions involving more than $5,000 in currency or cash equivalents in
one transaction (or a series) in one or more days and in several accounts;

and
» making a deposit, followed by a request for the money to be wired or
transferred to a third party, or another firm, without any apparent business

purpose.

e Notice also states a firm's compliance program must require employees to
aotify the personnel identified in the AML program promptly about any potential
suspicious activity, and that person must evalua.te the activity and decide
whether it warrants reporting to FinCEN. For transactions occurring after May
18, 2004, an FCM must also file a Suspicious Activity Report for Securities and
Futures ("SAR-SF" or "SAR"} with FinCEN to repont suspicious transactions.
NEA Comphance Rule 2-26(s) provides that each FDM shall diligently supervise

its employees and agents in the conduct of their foreign currency futures and
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options activities for or on behalf of the FDM. Each Associate of an FDM who
has supervisory duties shall diligently exercise such duties in the conduct of that
Associate’s foreign cusrency futures and options activities for or on behalf of the
FDM. |

COUNT !

VIOLATION OF NFA COMPLIANCE RULE 2-9(¢): FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT AN
ADEQUATE AML PROGRAM.

13.  The allegations set forth in paragraph 1 and paragrapbs 8 through 11 are re-
alleged as paragraph 13.

14, In conformity with the guidance provided in NFA Compliance Rule 2-9(c) and the
related Interpretive Notice, )-Trade developed an AML program. The pertinent
part of the firm’s AML program contained the following "red flags” to help identify

suspicious activity:

) The custaomer has a questionable background or is subject of news
reports indicating possible criminal, civil, or regulatory violations;
. The customer's account has unexplained or sudden extensive wire

activity, especially in accounts that had little or no previous activity;
The customer’s account shows an unexplained high level of account
activity with very low levels of trading activities;?

’ The customer's account has wire transfers that have no apparent business
purpose to or from a country identified as a money laundering risk or a
bank secrecy haven;

, The customer maintains multiple accounts, or maintains accounts in the
names of family members or corporate entities, for no apparent purpose;
and

. The customer's account has inflows of funds or other assets well beyond

the known income or resources of the customer.

Prior to the September 5, 2007 revisions to its AML Policy, this point in I-Trade’s
AML policy referred to “securities transactions” instead of “trading aclivities.”
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-Trade's AML program stated that when a firm member detected any of these
"red flags,” he or she would investigate under th2 direction of the firm's AML
compliance officer. l-Trade’s procedures also identified actions firm personnel
could take and specifically provided for giving a suspect account to the AML
compliance officer to review certain information, such as orders prior to entry,
daily trading aclivity, money transfer requests and deposits, as well as contacting
the government, freezing the account, or filing a SAR-SF.

-Trade's November 2006 and Septemvber 2007 AML programs identified
Martinez as the firm’s AML compliance officer responsible for overseeing the
firm’s AML policy. In August 2007, I-Trade hired Kim Estrada ("Estrada”) as its
compliance and AML officer.

Between November 2006 and April 2008, NFA found suspicious money transfer
activity that {-Trade failed to repart. Most of the suspicious activity occurred in
accounts related to Smith (i.e., Olint and TCI) and involved activity identified in
both NFA’s Imerpretive Notice and I-Trade's own AML program as “red flags.”
This activity included extensive and unexplained wire activity, transactions
involving more than $5,000 in currency or cash e_quivalents, deposits followed by
a transfer request to a third party without any apparent business reason, and
unexplained, extensive wire activity with very low trading levels in the accounts.
in November 2006, NFA reviewed the activity in an account Olint opened with |-
Trad'e in September 2006, The Olint accotint apening documents indicated

Smith and his wife owned Clint and that the funds in the accouni came from them

only.
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A statement for the Ofint account showed a balance of approximately $20 million,
-jith frequent deposit and withdrawal wire activity. For example, during the first
w0 months the account was open, Olint made four deposits totaling
approximately $59 million and eight withdrawals totaling about $35.5 mittion,
though no trading activity occurred during this time.
\FA later identified three other Olint accounts, with deposits ranging from
3500,000 to $2 million. While trading was occurring in the accounts, Olint only
committed a fraction of the account equity to trading. At the end of March 2007,
Olint withdrew the bulk of the funds from three of the accounts in amounts
ranging from about $938,000 to over $1.7 million.
Two TCI accounts both showed suspicious activity similar to an Olint account.
+“or example, TCl made two deposits totaling over $40 miftion in one account and
withdrew about the same amount over the course of three transactions, even
though no trading activity ever occurred in the account. In the second account,
~Cl made about a $20 million deposit and withdrew about the same amount less
“;an two weeks later, while making 6nly minimal trades during this time.
i'Cl also opened a third account in June 2007, even though it had withdrawn alt
.1 funds from the other two accounts in March. TClI deposited 6ver $12 million
into this new account, but very little trading activity occurred, and TCH
subsequently closed this account in February 2008.
Moreover, from I-Trade's inception in August 2006 to May 2007, Olint and TCI
Jeposited almost 5100 million into irading accounts at the firm. Mowever, Clint

~nd TCI traded only a small percentage of these funds and withdrew the vast
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majority of the money by May 2007. In addition Olint and TC} only received
about half of the withdrawn funds, while -Trade sent the other $50 million to JiJ
Investments (*JIJ"), a company owned by Martinez and his brother and father
(i.e., Jacob and Jared Martinez).

24 Not only did [-Trade continue to ignore suspicious activity in the Smith-related
accounts, but it also facilitated unusual transactions between accounts. Records
show an approximately $3 million wire from a JiJ bank account into I-Trade for
JI&'s account at the firm,.yet 1-Trade deposited tnhe funds into a TCl account
controlled by Smith. A few days later, I-Trade adjusted the TC) and JMJ accounts.
moving the money from TCl to JIJ, which withdrew the funds shortly thereafter
and sent them back to its bank account without committing any of the money to
lrading.

I-Trade did not file a SAR-SF on any of the Olint and TC} accounts, contrary to

[N
(&2

NFA Compliance Rule 2-9(c), the Interpretive Notice and the guidelines in the
firm's own AML program.

€. Another account with suspicious money lransfer activity opened in August 2006 in
the name of Ingrid Loiten {"Loiten”). Loiten’s account opening documents showed
.n annual income ar;d net worth of between $25,000 and $50,000. However,
{citen’s account statements reflect 17 deposits totaling over $1.7 miilion between
December 2006 and March 2007.

27 |-Trade's records also include an April 17, 2007 e-mail to Martinez from Jared

Martinez concerning an April 13 meeting with Lo ten, during which she told Jared

“Jartinez she owned and operated a multi-million dotlar website,
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www . homeworkjamaica.com, and wished to deposit between $2 and $5 million of
her personal funds into her trading account. Despite the discrepancy between:
Loiten's account application and her verbal representation to Jared Martinez in April
soncerning her financial information, 1-Trade waited almost two months to obtain
updated infermation from Lojten, even though it accepted an additional $2.7 million
in deposits during that same time.

Not only did Loiten deposit funds into her account that were inconsistent with her
annual income and net waorth, but also changes to her wire activily were
unexplained and unusual. To illustrate, Loiten opened her account with a $500
depasit and, over the next three months, made four subsequem deposits averaging
less than $2,000. However, the wired deposits changed dramatically in size and
frequency at the end of December 2006. and for the next three months, when
Loiten made multiple deposits (e g.. five to six per month) for amounts averaging
over $100,000.

{(REDACTED.]

Suspicious money transfer activity also occurred in the accourit of Gareth Harris
(“Harris”). Harris opened an |-Trade account in December 2006, and his account
opening documents indicated an annual income and net worth of less than $25,000.
However, Harris deposited approximately $100,000 into his trading accounf in May
2007 and made two deposits totaling almost $10 million in October 2007.

Harris initially opened his account with an approximately $2.000 deposit, and made

supseguent deposits over the next three and a half months averaging about 31 .700.

However, this pattern dramatically changed in micd-Apri 2007, when deposits
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sigmficantly increased in size — nitially averaging about $30,500 and then later
iumping to almost 35 million. At no time did I-Trade file a SAR for the suspicious
activity in Harris's accaunt, despite the sudden unexplained and unusual wire
activity and the discrepancies between his reported annual income and net worth
and the flow of deposits into his account.

COUNT I}

VIOLATION OF NFA COMPLIANCE RULE 2-36{e): FAILURE TO SUPERVISE.

2. The allegations set forth in paragraphs 1, 2 and12 are realleged as paragraph
32

33, The diligent supervision of employees and agents in the conduct of their forex
activities for or on behalf of an FDM requires, in part, that FDMs and their
Associates who have supervisory duties diligently exercise those duties to
ensure the FDM complies with ail NFA Requirements.

" 'he allegations set forth in paragraphs 14 through 31 are realleged as paragraph
24,

tartinez, as )-Trade's president, was responsible for the firm’s overall

.perations. Not only was Martinez the firm's AMU compliance officer responsible
i overseeing the firm's AML policy, which included filing SARs, he also was the
paint person at I-Trade who .responded to NFA's AML inquiries, and he continued
inese duties for a period even though the firm had hired Estrada as its AML
compliance officer. Moreover, there numerous suspicious activities that )-Trade
and Martinez failed to report, and he cempletely disregarded the firm's AML

arccedures by allowing certain 1-Trade customers to engage in numerous
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~uestionable financial transactions and open additional accounts, despite the
existence of the AML warning signs outlined in NFA's Interpretive Notice and' the
irm's own procedures.

38 Furthermore, when I-Trade eventually began filing SARs, the reported activity
saled in comparisan to the activity that occurred in other accounts for which the.
firm did not file SARs. As of April 2008, |-Trade filed approximately 24 SARs, but
none of them involved activity in the Olint or TCI accounts, even though I-Trade
reported activity for similar questionable acts in other customer accounts.

37 |-Trade and Martinez failed to adopt and implement effective steps to ensure the
firm complied with all NFA Requirements.

~8.  Because of the foregoing acts and omissions, \-Trade and Martinez are charged
with violations of NFA Compliance Rule 2-36(e).

PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS

ANSWER

You must file a written Answer to the Complaint with NFA within thirty (30)
ijays of the date of the Complaint. The Answer shall respond to each allegation in the ..
Complaint by admitting, denying or averring that you lack sufficient knowledge or
.nformation to admit or deny the allegation. An averment of insufficient knowledge or
information may only be made after a diligent effort has been made to ascertain the
~avant facts and shall be deemed a denial of the pertinent allegation.

NFA staff is authorized to grant such reasonable extensions of time in

vhieh an Answer may be filed. as it deems appropriate. The place for filing an Answer

shall be:
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National Futures Association

200 West Madison Street

Suite 1600

Chicago, Hlinois 60606-3447

Attn: Legal Department-Docketing

Eailure to file an Answer as provided above shall be deemed an admission

of the facts and legal conclusions contained in the Complaint. Failure to respond to any
allegation shall be deemed an admission of that allegation. Failure to file an Answer as

provided above shall be deemed a waiver of hearing.

POTENTIAL PENALTIES, DISQUALIFICATION AND INELIGIBILITY

At the conclusion of the proceedings conducted as a result of or in con-
nection with the issuance of this Complaint, NFA may impose one or more of the
following penalties:

(a}  expulsionor suspension for a specified period from NFA membership;

(b) baror suspension for a spéciﬁed period from association with an NFA
Member;

(c) censureor reprimand,
(d) amonetary fine not to exceed $250,000 for each viotation found; and

(e) order to cease and desist or any other fitting penalty or remedial action not
inconsistent with these penalties.

The allegations in this Complaint may constitute a statutory disqualification

from registration under Section 8a(3)(M) of the Commadity Exchange Act. Respondents
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a5 matter who apply for registration in any new capacity, including as an AP with a
o spenscr. may be denied registration based on the pendency of this proceeding.
Pursuant to the provisions of Commodity Futures Trading Commission
v .- 1 Regulation 1.63, penaities imposed in connection with this Complaint may

- mo-arily or permanently render Respondents who are individuals ineligible to serve

~se olinary committees, arbitration panels and governing boards of a self-regulatory

-anization. as that term is defined in CFTC Regulation 1.63.

NATIONAL FUTURES ASSOCIATION
BUSINESS CONDUCT COMMITTEE

. //
. A s ~ S
e oy Lol LD

Chairperson
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AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE
I Nancy Miskovich-Paschen, on oath state that on June 30, 2008, | served
cories of the attached Complaint, by sending such copies in the United States mail,

first-class dehivery. and by overnight mail. in envelopes addressed as follows:

LT FXLLC ) Isaac Martinez
0 Couonial Center Parkway 114 Boulder Ct.
Suite 300 ‘ Sanford, FL 32789

Laka Mary, FL 32748
Al | Kim Estrada
Chief Comphance Officer

}

¥ ro .. J ] .
e R
! ) o -" "I,.

i

Page 102 of

Nancy Miskavich-Paschen

Srbsesind and sworn to before me
- 7 =7ih day of June 2008.

o 1K \\—13 "tﬁj"D

~asare T oablic

CFFICIAL SEAL
Mary A, Patton
Notary Publie, State of iffincls
MY COMMISSICN EXPIRES 7-17-09
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% QuINTT®

e team, one goal . 3LCCESS

‘0 876-9784352, Fax: 876-927-9175

PRIVATE CLUB MEMBER STATEMENT

Holder(s): CHRISTOPHER WALKER
KENNETH WALKER
Account Number: 11011519
Reporting Period: May 2008
Plan: A
targins Brought Forward Us$2,699, {‘33

Additional Margin On

Total Contributions US$2,059,733.
.+t C0 et Encashments

->ytal Encashments us$o.
¢ urrent Adjustments S0
Total Adjustments Usso
Flus Current Gains 1J64114,225
Total Gains f / usS$114,225

N L L] .

.,--'/(r VoI va/e

( .
Zoarcentage tor period of May 2008 - A 5,080
¥ /Mo de

Current Pasition as of May 008 / 118952,713.959

7
Al moenetary fqures €0 this statement are prtscnn’d in LS Jdalia Py S ( (Z//‘
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cog BTHB-9TEAEER, Fax: 876-027-6175

PRIVATE CLUB MEMBER STATEMENT

Holder(s): CHRISTOPHER WALKER
Account Number: 11013376
Reporting Period: May 2008

Plan: A

rargins Brought Forward 1J6$218,288.75

Additional Margin On :

Total Contributions Us$218,288.75

Less Current Encashments

Toras Encashments US$0.00

Current Adjustments 1:540.C0

Total Adjustments us5%$0.00

Plus Current Gains uSs11,873.31

Total Gains uss11,874.91

Percentage for period of May 2008 5.34%
Current Position as nf May 2008 1355230,163.66

s
&
Ail aronetary fgures cn th s statemert are proserted n US dottars !
Y '3

Aeeeyantienn, plonee s Ho pet Resitate to contact us.
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GLINT Forex Online

Ganeral Information

Reports
Encashmenta

Flacements . Amount
Encasilments 11639 253125.039.60
‘Yiety Current Encashments +3383 J84125 63300
104225.020.0
New Encashment Fes.0es
134.4225,00¢,8C

L28300,000.60

LIIE6,000.00

L300

vember Profile

ithae Activities

l’ B ety £

"\

SE52,006,300.

Page | ot' |

13
Welcome CHRISTOPRER WALKER 3

Payment Nanu

RIS
SHRISTERRER
“4R[TIFHER
CHRIST FHER
CHRISTIEHER
THRISTE IR
TRISTEPRER

JRIETLRHER

Requested
'.’-:-1'., Fed. 12 2' ‘
Tse. Apr, 02 2€
Tia. Feh I M
Mop, Mar. 31 2

i3

“ e,
n12d, Mg,

The:, Jun. J€ 20 2equest Fueer
Thu, ot 19 20 2equest Ricon

7, Jal 10 ZC0 Pagaest Ricep

T i New
¢

Last longed :m: 473 ¢

Actount:

sfamber ID:

No. of Encashments:

Jotal:  15$2,210,000.08

Status' .[cm pleted  Account Hémh
Proceesin K 177020633
Frazassing LITN02:943
dmyescing LIREIAGE
Hegessing LIT02398
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